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Foreword 

{ƻƳŜǘƛƳŜǎ ƛǊƻƴƛŎŀƭƭȅ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ άǘƘŜ ǇŜƻǇƭŜΩǎ ǇƭŀŎŜΣέ Champlain Golf Course has long been regarded as the 

ugly duckling of Ottawa Valley golf courses. 

When ǘƘŜ bŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ /ŀǇƛǘŀƭ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴΩǎ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜd the Glenlea golf course in 1974, a writer in the 

Ottawa Journal ŜȄǇƭŀƛƴŜŘ ǘƘŜ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƎƻƭŦƛƴƎ ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘȅΩǎ ƭƻǿ ǊŜƎŀǊŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ǘƘŀǘ 

would henceforth be known as Champlain: 

¢ƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ /ƭǳō ΧΣ ƛƴ ǘŜǊƳǎ ƻŦ ǊƻǳƴŘǎ ƻŦ ƎƻƭŦΣ ƭƛƪŜƭȅ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǘƘŜ Ƴƻǎǘ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǊ ƎƻƭŦ ǊŜŀƭ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ 
ƛƴ ǘƘŜ hǘǘŀǿŀ ŀǊŜŀ ŦƻǊ пр ȅŜŀǊǎ ΧΦ ¢ƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ƛƴ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ !ȅƭƳŜǊ wƻŀŘΣ Ƨǳǎǘ 
west of the Champlain Bridge, since 1929, always as a semi-private club. As such it afforded, for 
many years, the only green fee club in the district. It was geared for family play and "homeless 
ƎƻƭŦŜǊǎϦ ΧΦ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ǿŀǎ ƴŜǾŜǊ ŀ ǇƭǳǎƘ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜΧΦ !ƴŘ ǿƘƛƭŜ ƛǘǎ ǊŜŀŘȅ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ƭŜŘ ǘƻ 
convenience for thousands of players over the years, it also contributed to the regular run of 
condescending jokes from more snobbish players. (Ottawa Journal, 10 February 1975, p. 17) 

The present golf course superintendent, Mike Leslie, recalls that when he became the newest member 

of the greenkeeping crew in 1986, Champlain had a reputation as a muddy, unkempt place.  

Lƴ [ŜǎƭƛŜΩǎ ƻǇƛƴƛƻƴΣ /ŀǇƛǘŀƭ !ǊōƻǊƛǎǘǎΣ ǘƘŜ ƭƻŎŀƭ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ 

that managed the grounds in the mid-1980s, was not 

up to the task: it lacked greenkeeping know-how, and 

its equipment was inadequate to course maintenance 

requirements. The grass everywhere was too long: on 

the greens, in the fairways, and in the rough. 

Complaints from golfers were loud and incessant. 

An unfortunate event that occurred the year before 

Leslie was hired at Champlain perhaps supports the 

idea that the company was in over its head. After 17-

year-ƻƭŘ ¢ŜǊǊȅ DǊŀȅ ŦƭƛǇǇŜŘ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

three-wheeled utility vehicles, pinning himself 

underneath it, where he was crushed to death, the Hull 

coroner investigated the role of Capital Arborists in the 

accident: he found not only that poor young Gray was not even a company employee (just a guy 

άƘŜƭǇƛƴƎ ŀ ŦǊƛŜƴŘΣ ǘƘŜ ƴƛƎƘǘ ƎǊƻǳƴŘƪŜŜǇŜǊΣ ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ ŀŎŎƛŘŜƴǘ ƘŀǇǇŜƴŜŘέύΣ ōǳǘ ŀƭǎƻ ǘƘŀǘ ƛƴ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ά¢ƘŜ 

Figure 1 Mike Leslie, Golf Course Superintendent, 
Champlain Golf Course. 
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ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ŀŎǘŜŘ ŀǎ ŀƳŀǘŜǳǊǎ ŀƴŘ ƴƻǘ ǇǊƻŦŜǎǎƛƻƴŀƭǎέΤ Ƴƻǎǘ ǎŜǊƛƻǳǎƭȅΣ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅ ǿŀǎ άƭŀŎƪƛƴƎ ǎŀŦŜǘȅ 

ǊŜƎǳƭŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƻ ǇǊƻǘŜŎǘ ƛǘǎ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜǎέ όOttawa Citizen, 21 October 1985, p. 13). 

Although Capital Arborists was replaced in 1988 by Golf Management Associates, a thoroughly 

professional and knowledgeable company, improving the situation at Champlain took time.  

And so, in 1995, Ottawa Citizen ǿǊƛǘŜǊ !ƭƭŜƴ tŀƴȊŜǊƛ ƻōǎŜǊǾŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ά/ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴ ƛǎ ǇƭŀȅŀōƭŜ ōǳǘ ŘƻƴΩǘ 

ŜȄǇŜŎǘ ƳǳŎƘ ƳƻǊŜέΥ 

The greens were abysmal at the start of the year; only in the last two weeks have they 
improved, though there are still several rough ones. 

²Ƙȅ ƛǘ Ƙŀǎ ǘŀƪŜƴ ŀƭƳƻǎǘ ƘŀƭŦ ǘƘŜ ǎŜŀǎƻƴ ǘƻ ƳŀƪŜ ǘƘŜ ƎǊŜŜƴǎ ǇƭŀȅŀōƭŜ ƛǎ ŀ ǉǳŜǎǘƛƻƴ LΩŘ ǎǘƛƭƭ ōŜ 
asking if I were a member, since every other course has long been in decent shape. 

Then there are the fairways. Some are distinguishable from the rough only because the weeds 
are shorter.  

¸ƻǳ ŀƭƳƻǎǘ ƎŜǘ ǘƘŜ ŦŜŜƭƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ƻƴƭȅ ǿƘŀǘΩǎ ŀōǎƻƭǳǘŜƭȅ ƴŜŎŜǎǎŀǊȅ ƎŜǘǎ ŘƻƴŜΦ LǘΩǎ ǘƘŜ ƳŜƴǘŀƭƛǘȅ 
you generally see when a course thinks it has a captive market, as if public-course golfers (let 
ǘƘŜƳ Ŝŀǘ ŎŀƪŜύ ƘŀǾŜ ƴƻ ǊƛƎƘǘ ǘƻ ŜȄǇŜŎǘ ōŜǘǘŜǊΧΦ 

Also, you generally have to wear waterproof shoes.  

bƻǘ ƴƻǿΣ ǘƘƻǳƎƘΥ ƛǘ ƘŀǎƴΩǘ ǊŀƛƴŜŘ ƛƴ ǘǿƻ ǿŜŜƪǎ ŀƴŘ ƛǘΩǎ ƻōǾƛƻǳǎ ǘƘŜ ǎǇǊƛƴƪƭŜǊǎ ƘŀǾŜƴΩǘ ōŜŜƴ 
running that often. When I played there again last week, one of my partners saw a sprinkler on 
the 16th ŀƴŘ ŎǊŀŎƪŜŘΣ άhƘΣ ƭƻƻƪΣ ǘƘŜȅ ƘŀǾŜ ǘƘŜ ǎǇǊƛƴƪƭŜǊ ƻƴ ŦƻǊ ŀ ƳƛƴǳǘŜΦέ όOttawa Citizen, 2 July 
1995, p. 18)  

¸Ŝǘ ŘŜǎǇƛǘŜ ǘƘŜ ƎƻƭŦƛƴƎ ŎƻƳƳǳƴƛǘȅΩǎ Ŧŀƛƴǘ ǇǊŀƛǎŜ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻƴƻǳƴŎŜŘ ŎƻƴŘŜǎŎŜƴǎƛƻƴΣ ŜŀŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƧƻǳǊƴŀƭƛǎǘǎ 

quoted above recognized an architectural integrity within the layout of the golf course that even poor 

conditions could not obscure.  

hƴ ǘƘŜ ōŀǎƛǎ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ άƳƻǊŜ ǘƘŀƴ ǇŀǎǎŀōƭŜ ƭŀȅƻǳǘΣέ ǘƘŜ Citizen ǿǊƛǘŜǊ ŀǊƎǳŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ /ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴ άŘŜǎŜǊǾŜǎ 

ōŜǘǘŜǊ ǘǊŜŀǘƳŜƴǘ ǘƘŀƴ ƛǘ ƎŜǘǎέΥ ǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ άŀ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘƛƴƎ ƘƻƭŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ȅƻǳΩŘ ƭƛƪŜ ǘƻ Ǉƭŀȅ ŀƎŀƛƴέ όн 

July 1995, p. 18). The Journal writer offered a wry observation about the condescension of snobbish 

ƎƻƭŦŜǊǎ ŦǊƻƳ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŎƭǳōǎΥ άLǘ ǿŀǎ ƻŘŘ Χ ǘƘŀǘ ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ finest players gathered at the Glenlea for 

ǘƻǳǊƴŀƳŜƴǘǎΣ ǘƘŜȅ ǿŜǊŜ ǊŀǊŜƭȅ ŜǾŜǊ ŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ǘŀƪŜ ƛǘ ŀǇŀǊǘέ (10 February 1975, p. 17).  

Good golfers could not take the course apart because of the good design of its best holes. And when 

each of the writers above made his comments about Champlain, in 1975 and 1995, respectively, the 

best holes then in play were the ones designed by the original architect and staked out in 1928 ς holes 
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built not with the earth-moving equipment used today, but rather with horses pulling Fresno Scrapers 

and railway plows.  

As old as these golf holes are, what the Journal writer said of the Glenlea golf course half a century ago 

still applies to a many a ǇƭŀȅŜǊΩǎ ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ǘƻŘŀȅ: άǿƘƛƭŜ ǘƘŜ ǘǊƻǳōƭŜ ŘƛŘƴϥǘ ǎǘŀǊŜ ȅƻǳ 

ŘƻǿƴΣ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ōŜŎƪƻƴƛƴƎ ǎǳōǘƭȅΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ǊŜǉǳƛǊŜŘ ȅƻǳǊ Ŏƻƴǎǘŀƴǘ ŀǘǘŜƴǘƛƻƴέ (Ottawa Journal, 10 

February 1975, p. 17).  

On the golf course today, the challenges presented by the earliest holes endure as challenges for golfers 

who have all the advantages of modern technology because those challenges are still best addressed 

not by the brute power of long hitting, but rather by the virtue of strategic decisions: a decision about 

where to place the ball in the fairway in order to approach the green from the right direction, for 

instance, or a decision about whether to carry the ball in the air all the way to the flag or bounce the ball 

onto the green links-style. 

And the substantial redesign or replacement of almost half the greens at Champlain since the articles 

above were written means that golfers must continue to devote constant attention to their games if 

they are to avoid troubles that subtly beckon. 

And so, in its architectural bones, what has often been seen as ǘƘŜ ǳƎƭȅ ŘǳŎƪƭƛƴƎ ƻŦ hǘǘŀǿŀΩǎ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜǎ 

has the DNA of a swan. 
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Introduction 

/ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴΣ DƭŜƴƭŜŀΣ IƛƎƘƭŜŀΥ ¢ƘŜ aŀƪƛƴƎǎ ƻŦ DƻƭŦ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ tŜƻǇƭŜΩǎ tƭŀŎŜ explores the architectural history 

behind ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ /ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴ DƻƭŦ /ƻǳǊǎŜΦ 

There is the story of the property on which the architects laid out a golf course. It was acquired in the 

1920s by William H. Stewart to serve first as the home of the Highlea Tennis and Country Club and then 

as the home of the Glenlea Golf and Country Club. It always had the makings of a golf course, for it 

shares many of the characteristics of the land with which it is contiguous ς that on which the Royal 

Ottawa golf course was laid out in 1903 by Tom Bendelow (designer of more than 400 golf courses by 

that point), who ǎŀƛŘ ǘƘŀǘ άǘƘŜ ƴŀǘǳǊŀƭ ŦŜŀǘǳǊŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜǎŜ ƭƛƴƪǎ Χ ǿŜǊŜ ǘƘŜ ŦƛƴŜǎǘ ƘŜ ƘŀŘ ŜǾŜǊ ǎŜŜƴέ 

(Ottawa Journal, 30 May 1903, p. 9).  

There is the story of the stewards of the golf course. In the summer of 1928, it was the Highlea Tennis 

ŀƴŘ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳō ǘƘŀǘ ƘƛǊŜŘ ŀƴ ŜȄǇŜǊǘ ǘƻ ŀǎǎŜǎǎ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΩǎ ǎǳƛǘŀōƛƭƛǘȅ ŦƻǊ ƎƻƭŦ and plan a golf course. 

The member owned Glenlea Golf and Country Club presided over the golf course for a decade, and then 

private syndicates took over for much of the next ten years until the Stewart family formed the Glenlea 

Golf Club in 1950. Twenty-five years later, the National Capital Commission acquired the golf course. The 

course was changed by each of these stewards. 

There is the story of the heads of the greens committee in the earliest days, and the story of head 

greenkeepers, too, who were the ones on site planning and building fairways, tees, and greens. 

And, pre-eminently, there is the story of the architects themselves, the masters among all the makers of 

ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜΦ 
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Architects 

So, ǿƘƻ ŀǊŜ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŎƘƛǘŜŎǘǎ ōŜƘƛƴŘ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ /ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜΚ 

One of the most important architects has been the most 

recent one: tƻŘŀȅΩǎ proprietor, Stanley Brigham.  

During his first period of stewardship over the course in 

the early 1980s, he created the fourth hole, excavating 

from scratch the pond that remains the distinctive feature 

of what may be the signature hole on the golf course 

today.  

At this time, he also turned ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ ǘƘƛǊŘ ƘƻƭŜ ŦǊƻƳ ŀ ǇŀǊ 

four into to a par five by adding over 100 yards to it and 

ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ ƎǊŜŜƴ ŀŎǊƻǎǎ ǘƘŜ ŎǊŜŜƪ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǇ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

hill where the cattle barn of William Lansdowne Allen used 

to stand.  

And he also designed what have become the ninth and 

tenth holes, which were built between 1985 and 1986, 

several years after Brigham had left Champlain. 

With his return to the course in 1998, Brigham spent the 

next five years significantly redesigning several holes:  

(1) he added the upper tier to the green on the second 

hole, added mounds around the new part of the green, 

and added a bunker at the left side;  

(2) he lengthened the fifth hole by adding a back tee 

(turning it from a par four into a par five) and moved the 

green further back and doubled its size;  

(3) he added thirty yards to the seventeenth hole and built 

the present seventeenth green and its surrounding 

mounds; 

Figure 2 Stan Brigham, June 2022. 
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(4) he added 100 yards to the first hole and built the present green and its surrounding mounds;  

(5) he added 120 yards to the thirteenth hole and built the present green and its surrounding mounds; 

In 2019, Brigham lengthened the fifteenth green and developed the mounding behind it (also bringing 

the pond within reach of shots played over the green). 

For a period of ten years (from 1988 to 1997), the Champlain Golf Course was managed by Golf 

Management Associates, a company run by entrepreneur Gordon Eyre and architect David L. Moote. 

The latter was the son of architect Robert Moote (who had trained under Stanley Thompson) and 

nephew of David S. Moote (the youngest person ever elected president of the Golf Course 

Superintendents Association of America).  

In 1992, GMA temporarily 

added two new short holes 

within the eighteen-hole 

course to enable an early 

άƳƻǊƴƛƴƎ-ƴƛƴŜέ round of golf. 

In 1997, it planned an 

eighteen-hole executive golf 

course for the area west of 

ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ ǘŜƴǘƘ ƘƻƭŜ. All levels 

of government had approved 

the plan, but Da!Ωǎ contract 

with the NCC was not 

renewed and these plans 

came to nought.  

And so, 5ŀǾƛŘ [Φ aƻƻǘŜΩǎ main design legacy at Champlain today is the sixth hole, which he built in 1988 

and to which he added the present back tee in 1997. 

Eight new golf holes were developed at Glenlea between 1950 and 1952, the majority of which 

remained in play until the mid-1980s, after which GMA and Stan Brigham altered many of them 

significantly or replaced them outright. The holes built in the early 1950s were designed through 

Figure 3 Left to right: David L. Moote, Robert F. Moote, 1997. 
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collaboration between the Glenlea head pro Harry Mulligan and William Lynwood Stewart, son of the 

owner William Henry Stewart. 

aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴ ǎŜǊǾŜŘ ǘǿƻ ƭƻƴƎ ǘŜǊƳǎ ŀǎ DƭŜƴƭŜŀΩǎ ƘŜŀŘ ǇǊƻΥ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘΣ ŦǊƻƳ мфнф ǘƻ мфпоΤ ǘƘŜ ǎŜŎƻƴŘΣ ŦǊƻƳ 

мфрл ǘƻ мфтоΦ Lƴ мфтпΣ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ǇǊƻƳƻǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ DƭŜƴƭŜŀΩǎ άƎƻƭŦ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΣέ ƳŀƪƛƴƎ ǊƻƻƳ ŦƻǊ 

Gilles Leduc in the pro ǎƘƻǇΦ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴΩǎ ŎƻƴǘǊƛōǳǘƛƻƴǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻƳƻǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƎƻƭŦ ƛƴ 

Canada were recognized in October of 1974, when a lifetime membership of the Canadian Professional 

Golfers Association was bestowed upon him. 

News having broken in April of 1974 that the National Capital 

Commission was on the verge of acquiring the Glenlea Golf Club, the NCC 

eventually closed a deal with owner Lynn Stewart for a purchase price 

between $1,000,000 and $1,300,000 (Ottawa Citizen, 8 October 1974, p. 

3)Φ !ǘ ǘƘƛǎ ǇƻƛƴǘΣ IŀǊǊȅ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴΩǎ ƻŦŦƛŎƛŀƭ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ 

ended and he moved to Lȅƴ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ƴŜǿ golf course at the Kingsway 

Park Golf Club for the rest of his career. 

Mulligan died in 1981; he was the same age as the century. 

But his influence endures architecturally at the Champlain Golf Course, 

for several golf holes that he designed and built with Stewart between 

1950 and 1952 remain in play at the course.  

They laid out six holes in the area that today hosts the driving range, two 

practice putting greens, and the second, third, and fifth holes, but only 

their fairways ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŦǊƻƴǘ ƘŀƭŦ ƻŦ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ƎǊŜŜƴ ǊŜƳŀƛƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜƛǊ 

work in this areaΦ ¢ƘŜȅ ŀƭǎƻ ŘŜǎƛƎƴŜŘ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ ǎŜǾŜƴǘŜŜƴǘƘ ƘƻƭŜ (using 

elements from earlier golf holes). And they restored an earlier golf hole to play that had been 

abandoned for three years (this hole plays today as the sixteenth). 

The holes designed by Mulligan and Stewart were part of nine holes added to the golf course to restore 

it to an eighteen-hole configuration. Parts of the course had languished unused during World War II, and 

a number of acres were sold after the war: 

Originally, the Glenlea course was an 18-ƘƻƭŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ΧΦ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŜŘ ōȅ ŜȄǇŜǊǘǎ ǘƻ ōŜ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 
finest in this part of the country.  

Figure 4 Harry Mulligan, early 
1950s. 
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However, during the war, with the decline of golf activities, part of the course was allowed to 
run down, chiefly because of the scarcity of help.  

Following the war, a number of acres were sold and until now the course has been only nine 
holes.  

Since the war, and especially during the last two years, membership at the club has increased 
to such an extent that new land was needed.  

This newly acquired land lies directly to the west of the present nine-
hole course and, under the direction of Club Secretary Lyn Stewart, new 
greens and tees are rapidly being laid out. 

Club pro Harry Mulligan and Secretary Stewart are pooling their 
knowledge of design and construction in laying out the new course.  

Both have a good deal of know-how in this field, having seen and 
studied designs in Canada, the United States, and the British Isles.  

Pro Mulligan has played and taught at courses in Canada and below 
the border.  

(Ottawa Citizen, 9 May 1952, p. 22) 

Note that although Stewart and Mulligan were confident that they could design these new holes, they 

had never laid out a golf course before, for thŜ ƴŜǿǎǇŀǇŜǊ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜƛǊ άƪƴƻǿ-Ƙƻǿέ Ŏame not 

from ever having designed and built anything, but rather from ƘŀǾƛƴƎ άǎŜŜƴ ŀƴŘ ǎǘǳŘƛŜŘ ŘŜǎƛƎƴǎέ ƻŦ ƎƻƭŦ 

courses in Canada, Britain, and the United States.  

And so, since the holes that Stewart and Mulligan designed at Glenlea represented their first work as 

golf course architects, we know that although Mulligan was associated with the Glenlea golf course from 

the moment it opened in 1929, he had not designed the original eighteen-hole layout. If he had, he 

would have told the Ottawa Citizen writer cited above that his design know-how came not from seeing, 

studying, and playing golf courses, but rather from his having designed the original Glenlea course! 

In the ensuing years, however, the stories that the always chatty and gossipy Mulligan told to Ottawa 

sportswriters about his seminal role in getting the original golf course up and running led to persistent 

misunderstandings of just what Mulligan had actually told them about the design and construction of 

the Glenlea golf course. 

Things begin to go awry in an article published in 1955 when the Ottawa Citizen reported that Mulligan 

άǿŀǎ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŘ ōȅ ²ΦIΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘ ǘƻ ƎŜǘ ǘƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ǎǘŀǊǘŜŘέ όOttawa Citizen, 3 May 1955, p. 19). This 

statement is accurate, but it is also ambiguous. And of the two ways in which the statement can be 

understood, one is incorrect. 

Figure 5 Lyn Stewart, early 
1950s. 
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What does it mean that Mulligan was hired by W.H. Stewart άǘƻ ƎŜǘ ǘƘŜ 

DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ǎǘŀǊǘŜŘέΚ 

This statement is accurate in relation to the fact that Mulligan was the first 

head pro at Glenlea, starting on 1 May 1929: as such, he was charged with 

setting up a pro shop, handling tee times, running tournaments, and teaching 

members how to play golf. In this sense, he άƎƻǘ ǘƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ǎǘŀǊǘŜŘΦέ 

But the statement in question does not mean that Mulligan Ǝƻǘ άDƭŜƴƭŜŀ 

ǎǘŀǊǘŜŘέ in the sense of laying out its golf course, yet the newspaper statement 

was later interpreted to have meant just that. 

{ƘƻǊǘƭȅ ŀŦǘŜǊ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ ƛƴ WŀƴǳŀǊȅ ƻŦ мфумΣ ŦƻǊ ƛƴǎǘŀƴŎŜΣ sports columnist Eddie MacCabe 

observed that IŀǊǊȅ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴΩǎ άclosest identity was with the old Glenlea Golf Club,έ and then he wrote 

ŀƳōƛƎǳƻǳǎƭȅΣ άHarry built that clubέΥ  

There was, on the Aylmer Road site, the Highlea Tennis and Country Club, operating for 
perhaps half a dozen years.  

When the late Bill Stewart decided to expand into golf, he hired Harry Mulligan to lay out and 
design the course, which opened in 1929.  

(Ottawa Citizen, 20 January 1981, p. 17).  

MacCabe turned the ambiguity of the 1955 CitizenΩǎ statement ǘƘŀǘ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴ άǿŀǎ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŘ ōȅ ²ΦIΦ 

{ǘŜǿŀǊǘ ǘƻ ƎŜǘ ǘƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ǎǘŀǊǘŜŘέ into the declaration that aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴ άōǳƛƭǘ ǘƘŀǘ Ŏƭǳōέ ς ŀƴŘ άōǳƛƭǘέ ƛǘ ƛƴ 

ǘƘŜ ƭƛǘŜǊŀƭ ǎŜƴǎŜΥ άǘƻ ƭŀȅ ƻǳǘ ŀƴŘ ŘŜǎƛƎƴΦέ 

As we know, however, that is simply not true: Mulligan had not designed a golf course before the 1950s. 

Although Mulligan was hired ǘƻ ǎŜǊǾŜ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ DƻƭŦ ŀƴŘ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳōΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƎƻƭŦ ǇǊƻŦŜǎǎƛƻƴŀƭΣ ǘƘŜ 

golf course land was originally inspected by a golf expert in the summer of 1928, and it was then that an 

eighteen-hole golf course was planned. This golf course was under construction in March of 1929, two 

months before Mulligan began his first term as head pro.  

Surprisingly, when Eddie MacCabe was writing his 1981 article ŀōƻǳǘ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴΩǎ ǇŀǎǎƛƴƎ, he had 

apparently forgotten an important piece of information that he himself had included in an article about 

Glenlea eight years earlier:  

Did you know that until 1929, the Glenlea was known as the Highlea Club, and was a tennis and 
social place?  

Figure 6 W.H. ("Bill") 
Stewart, early 1950s. 



 

15 
 

At that time, due to some change in licensing regulations and other requirements, and to meet 
a growing need, a group of men, led by Bill Stewart, organized the Glenlea Club.  

It was laid out by Harry Mulligan and the late Karl Keffer who was pro at Royal Ottawa for 
many years and was Canadian Open champion among other things.  

(Ottawa Journal, 26 April 1973, p. 27) 

For the first time, we find Karl Keffer mentioned as a designer of 

Glenlea. And since Keffer had nothing to do with the 1950-52 design 

ōȅ IŀǊǊȅ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴ ŀƴŘ [ȅƴ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΣ ǿŜ ƪƴƻǿ ǘƘŀǘ aŀŎ/ŀōŜΩǎ 

identification of Keffer as a designer of Glenlea refers to the original 

eighteen-hole layout of 1928-29. 

We are now able to understand the information that MacCabe 

conveys in 1973 with his claim ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ άǿŀǎ ƭŀƛŘ ƻǳǘ 

ōȅ IŀǊǊȅ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǘŜ YŀǊƭ YŜŦŦŜǊέ: his statement conflates 

two periods of construction ς on the one hand, the laying out and 

construction of the original course from 1928 to 1929 by Keffer, and, 

on the other hand, the laying out and construction of a supplemental 

nine holes between 1950 and 1952 by Mulligan and Stewart.  

It turns out, then, that Keffer and Mulligan each designed parts of 

ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ /ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘŜȅ ǿƻǊƪŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŘŜǎƛƎƴ 

separately, and their work was separated by almost a quarter of a 

century.  

And so, although Mulligan would help green committees with his 

advice as the full eighteen-hole course was brought into play 

between 1929 and 1933, iǘ ǿŀǎ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴΩǎ ƭƻƴƎ-time mentor and 

benefactor Karl Keffer who laid out the original eighteen-hole golf course. And just as Keffer returned to 

Sand Point, Ontario, to provide ongoing advice (over a decade) on how to improve the course he had 

laid out for the Arnprior Golf Club in 1923, no doubt he frequently hopped over the fence between 

Royal Ottawa and Glenlea in the late 1920s and early 1930s to check out how things were coming along 

with his design.  

Figure 7 Karl Keffer, circa 1929. 
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Since eleven of ǘƘŜ ƘƻƭŜǎ ƛƴ Ǉƭŀȅ ƻƴ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ Champlain Golf Course ς whether in whole or in part ς are 

attributable to Karl Keffer, we can see that there is a need to set the record straight about his 

fundamental role in laying out the original golf course. 
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Beginning Before Glenlea 

News broke in April of 1925 that a syndicate of local Ottawa and Hull men had bought land along the 

Aylmer Road for a new country club: 

Property Bought For Tennis Club 

Plans are under way for a bowling and tennis club on the Aylmer Road, just west of the Royal 
Ottawa Golf Club. A syndicate of Ottawa and Hull men led by Mr. W.H. Stewart, of Hull, have 
purchased about 10 acres of land from Herbert Routliffe.  

The property is situated on the north side of the Aylmer Road opposite the Chaudière Golf Club 
property and adjoining that of the Royal Ottawa Golf Club.  

The purchase price is understood to be $10,000, and another $20,000 is to be spent in erecting 
a clubhouse and improving the property this year. (Ottawa Journal, 18 April 1925, p. 26) 

άIŜǊōŜǊǘέ wƻǳǘƭƛŦŦŜ ǿŀǎ ŀŎǘǳŀƭƭȅ IǳōŜǊǘ wƻǳǘƭƛŦŦŜΣ and the land that he sold to the syndicate had been 

farmed by his family for two generations.  

The man who led the syndicate, William Henry Stewart, would soon become the sole owner of the 

Routliffe property and add more contiguous land to it until he had accumulated about 180 acres by 1928 

ς more than enough room to accommodate the eighteen-hole golf course laid out at that time.  
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The Farmers and the Land 

¢ƻŘŀȅΩǎ /ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴ DƻƭŦ /ƻǳǊǎŜ, Chateau Cartier Golf Course, and the golf course of the Royal Ottawa 

Golf Club were all once part of the Britannia Farm of Hull founder Philemon Wright, but by the early 

twentieth century, the original farm had been subdivided many times. 

The man who sold the small farm to Stewart in the spring of 1925, Hubert 

Routliffe (1877-1926), was one of four children born to George and Ameila 

Routliffe. They were grandchildren of George Routliffe of Bideford in 

County Devon, England, who had been recruited by Ruggles Wright (the 

third son of Hull founder Philemon Wright) to come to Hull as a laborer in 

the early 1800s.  

.ƛŘŜŦƻǊŘΩǎ George Routliffe was eventually granted his own 100-acre farm 

in the township of South Hill (lot 16 of Range 4), which his children and 

grandchildren farmed well into the twentieth century. But his son George 

(seen to the left), acquired his own small farm along the Aylmer Road 

(comprising Lot 11 b and 11 c of Range 2). His son Hubert inherited this 

property upon his ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ŘŜŀǘƘ ƛƴ мфлсΦ  

With the old Aylmer toll road having been taken over by the municipality 

of South Hull in the early 1920s, leading to its improvement and its 

opening as a public road, property values along the road increased. Many 

farmers, such as Hubert Routliffe, decided to sell land that had been in their familƛŜǎΩ ǇƻǎǎŜǎǎƛƻƴ for 

generations. And so, ten acres of the Routliffe farm became the first parcel of the land that would 

become home to todayΩǎ /ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴ Golf Course. 

A substantial portion of the land of IǳōŜǊǘΩǎ next-door neighbour, William Allen (1840-1913), would also 

become part of ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ golf course, but the Allen family would not sell it until the 1950s. Allen, a 

grandson of Bideford settler George Routliffe όŀƴŘ ǎƻΣ IǳōŜǊǘΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ Ŏƻǳǎƛƴύ, chose not to sell to land 

speculators: 

George [Routliffe] has a small farm, to the right, joining the Wm. Allen farm.  

Figure 8 George Routliffe (1831-
1906), father of Hubert, early 
1900s. 
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This latter was entered by the pioneer of the name ς John Allen. It was taken up in 1806. It is 
still in the family, being owned and operated by Wm., a son of Ruggles, and grandson of the 
original John.  

While the rich owners of property in the days when Wm. Allen was young and starting have 
sold their farms ǘƻ Ǝƻ ƛƴǘƻ άǎƻƳŜǘƘƛƴƎ ōŜǘǘŜǊέ ŀƴŘ ŦŀƛƭŜŘ ǘƻ άƳŀƪŜ ƎƻƻŘΣέ ƘŜ Ƙŀǎ ǎǘŀȅŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ 
farm and has long since added to his acres until he has one of the best areas on the road.  

The original Allen farm extended to the Bellview [Bellevue] Cemetery.  

(Anson A. Gerard, Pioneers of the Upper Ottawa and the Humours of the Valley (Ottawa: 
Emerson Press, 1906), p. 10) 

William Allen was gored in the belly more than a dozen times by 

a bull that he was trying to round up in 1913 and was carried 

into his farmhouse where the fourth green of ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ golf 

course is located today.  

He died in his bedroom there before a doctor arrived.  

²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ !ƭƭŜƴΩǎ ǎƻƴ, William Lansdowne Allen, took over the 

farm, where he shared its farmhouse with his sister Ida. When 

the Highlea Tennis and Country Club opened next door on his 

Ŏƻǳǎƛƴ IǳōŜǊǘΩǎ old farmland, William and Ida regularly 

attended social events held there (see, for example the Ottawa 

Citizen, 14 October 1925, p. 18, and 20 October 1925, p. 17). 

In 1950, the Stewart family acquired the Allen land at the corner of Aylmer Road and Allen Road that 

ǘƻŘŀȅ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎŜǎ /ƘŀƳǇƭŀƛƴΩǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘΣ ǘƘƛǊŘΣ ŦƻǳǊǘƘΣ ŀƴŘ ŦƛŦǘƘ ƘƻƭŜǎΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŘǊƛǾƛƴƎ ǊŀƴƎŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ 

strip of land running from the range up to Aylmer Road through the bunkered practice green area. 

William L. Allen lived on in the old farmhouse on Aylmer Road until it was destroyed by fire in 1957. His 

ǊŜƳŀƛƴƛƴƎ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ƛƴ ǘƘƛǎ ŀǊŜŀΣ ǿƘŜǊŜ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ ǘƘƛǊŘ ƎǊŜŜƴ ŀƴŘ ŦƻǳǊǘƘ ƘƻƭŜ ŀǊŜ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘΣ ǿŀǎ 

subsequently acquired by the National Capital Commission. 
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W.H. Stewart 

¢ƘŜ άǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜ ƻŦ hǘǘŀǿŀ ŀƴŘ Iǳƭƭ ƳŜƴέ ǘƘŀǘ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ Routliffe property ǿŀǎ άƭŜŘ ōȅ aǊΦ ²ΦIΦ 

{ǘŜǿŀǊǘέ όOttawa Journal, 18 April 1925, p. 26).  

As the owner of the property, William Henry Stewart (1883-1965) would be the leading figure in all 

things relating to the Highlea Tennis and Country Club, but he was not one of the men who on 4 August 

1925 incorporated άǘƻ ǇǊƻƳƻǘŜΣ ƻǊƎŀƴƛȊŜΣ ŎƻƴŘǳŎǘ ŀƴŘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜ ŀ ƎƻƭŦΣ ǘŜƴƴƛǎΣ ŎƻǳƴǘǊȅ ŀƴŘ ǎƻŎƛŀƭ Ŏƭǳōέ: 

ά/ŀǇǘŀƛƴ [ŜǎƭƛŜ .ǳǊǊƻǿΣ ŎƛǾƛƭ ŜƳǇƭƻȅŜŜΣ Iƻƭƭȅ !ŎǊŜǎΣ ŦŀǊƳŜǊΣ aƛƭǘƻƴ CΦ /ǊƻǎǎΣ ŘŜƴǘƛǎǘΣ ŀƭƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ŏƛǘȅ ƻŦ 

hǘǘŀǿŀΣ Χ hǊǾƛƭƭŜ .Φ IŀȅŎƻŎƪΣ ƎŜƴǘƭŜƳŀƴΣ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴ ƻŦ !ȅƭƳŜǊΣ !ƭŦǊŜŘ ±Φ DŀƭŜΣ ƳŀƴŀƎŜǊΣ DŜƻǊƎŜ 

Graham, ōŀǊǊƛǎǘŜǊΣ [ƻǳƛǎ ŘŜ DŀƴȊŀƎǳŜ wŀōȅΣ ǊŜƎƛǎǘǊŀǊΣ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ŏƛǘȅ ƻŦ IǳƭƭΣ Χ ŀƴŘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ CƻƭŜȅΣ ŜǎǘŀǘŜ 

ŀƎŜƴǘΣ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴ ƻŦ !ȅƭƳŜǊέ όGazette Officielle du Quebec, vol 57 no 34 [22 August 1925], p. 2543).  

HighlŜŀΩǎ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƻǊǎ ŎƻǾŜǊed the political bases. Raby was the registrar of 

the city of Hull. Acres was the MLA for Carleton County in Ontario.  

Another influential figure, although he was not one of the incorporators, was 

immediately recruited as ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ ƻŦ άǘƘŜ ǇǊƻƳƻǘŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ ǇǊƻǾƛǎƛƻƴŀƭ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎέ:  

Romeo Lafond, MNA for Hull (Ottawa Journal, 15 August 1925, p. 21).  

Stewart became IƛƎƘƭŜŀΩǎ secretary-treasurer, and he had public influence, 

too, for he was also the secretary-treasurer of the municipality of South Hull 

(in which the new club was located).  

Lƴ hŎǘƻōŜǊΣ ǿƘŜƴ ά¢ƘŜ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ŘŜŎƛŘŜŘ ǘƻ ƭŜŀǎŜ ǘƘŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ¢Ŝƴƴƛǎ ŀƴŘ 

/ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳō ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅέ ŦǊƻƳ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜΣ άaǊΦ ²ΦIΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘ ǿŀǎ 

appointed manager, in addition to his office of secretary-ǘǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊέ (Ottawa 

Citizen, 9 October 1925, p. 3). 

{ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ desire to serve South Hull descended through his family. He was the 

grandson of the early Aylmer settler Robert Stewart (who was born ƛƴ LǊŜƭŀƴŘΩǎ 

County Monaghan in the early 1800s)Φ ¢ƘǊŜŜ ƻŦ wƻōŜǊǘ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ sons would 

serve the township of SƻǳǘƘ IǳƭƭΣ ƛƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ²ΦIΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊ, who lived in 

the original Stewart homestead on Aylmer Road (which still exists today) when he served his nine years 

as mayor of South Hull (he was still mayor when he died in 1919).  

Figure 9 William Henry 
Stewart (1883-1964), early 
1950s. 
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²ΦIΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ǳƴŎƭŜ wƻōŜǊǘ 

Stewart had served as a South 

Hull township councillor in the 

mid-1880s (alongside William 

Allen, senior, among others), 

and his uncle David Stewart 

ƘŀŘ ǎŜǊǾŜŘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴǎƘƛǇΩǎ 

secretary-Treasurer.  

Beginning in 1914, a few years 

after his father was first 

elected mayor, W.H. Stewart 

served continuously as 

secretary-treasurer of South 

Hull township for twenty 

years, retiring in the fall of 1934. (He served alongside township councillor William L. Allen, some of 

whose farmland at the corner of Aylmer Road and Allen Road he would acquire in 1950). 

After attending primary school in Aylmer, W.H. Stewart left town to attend Stanstead College, a private 

boarding school in Stanstead, Quebec, for study from Grades 7 to 12. Stewart made good friends at the 

school and occasionally spent holidays in nearby Sherbrooke at the homes of fellow students. Enrolled in 

the Commercial English programme, in which six subjects were taught, the nineteen-year-old Stewart 

ǿƻƴ ŀƴ ŀǿŀǊŘ ŦƻǊ άнnd ƛƴ ²ǊƛǘƛƴƎέ at the commencement exercises in June of 1902 (Sherbrooke Daily 

Record, 23 June 1902, p. 3). An example of his award-winning penmanship is reproduced below. 

Returning to Aylmer, Stewart became a prosperous and well-known farmer of fruits and vegetables, 

maintaining a substantial market garden. He married Mabel Lillian Victoria Cross (1882-1954) of 

Caledonia Springs in 1910 (with whom he had three children, Madeline, Elaine, and William Lynnwood). 

Figure 11 Signature of William H. Stewart as Secretary-Treasurer of the Township of South Hull. 

Figure 10 Stewart homestead, Aylmer Road. 
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{ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ŦŀǊƳ became a model for fellow members of the Ottawa Branch of the Ontario Vegetable 

Growers Association, whom he welcomed to a tour of his gardens in the spring of 1916. 

It soon became clear that his administrative skills were irrepressible, and many organizations availed 

themselves of them.  

In 1919, he served as Secretary-Treasurer of the South Hull branch of the United Farmers of Quebec. 

The same year, he served on the Horticulture Committee in Ottawa for the Central Canada Exhibition of 

1919. Lƴ мфннΣ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƻǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ŀƴŀŘƛŀƴ IƻǊǘƛŎǳƭǘǳǊŀƭ /ƻǳƴŎƛƭ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ άǘƻ 

advance all matters tending toward the improvement of the horticultural and allied industries in 

/ŀƴŀŘŀέ όOttawa Citizen, 26 August 1922, p. 5). In 1920, the Ottawa Branch of the Ontario Vegetable 

Growers Association ǎŜƴǘ ƘƛƳ ŀǎ ƛǘǎ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŀǘƛǾŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ hƘƛƻ aŀǊƪŜǘ DŀǊŘŜƴŜǊǎΩ ŎƻƴǾŜƴǘƛƻƴΦ At the 

Toronto meeting of the Ontario Vegetable Growers Association in 1922, he was elected first vice-

president of the Association and became its president in 1923 (serving in this role until 1925). 

And his work for the township of South Hull did not suffer at all from the many other calls upon his time 

ŀƴŘ ŀǘǘŜƴǘƛƻƴΦ Lƴ мфнтΣ άaŀȅƻǊ ²Φ aŀȄǿŜƭƭ ŀƴŘ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ώ{ƻǳǘƘ Iǳƭƭϐ ŎƻǳƴŎƛƭ ǘŜƴŘŜǊŜŘ ²ΦIΦ 

Stewart, the municipal secretary-treasurer, their heartiest congratulations for the able manner in which 

ƘŜ Ƙŀǎ ŦƛƭƭŜŘ Ƙƛǎ ƻŦŦƛŎŜέ όOttawa Journal, 8 September 1927, p. 7). Le droit called attention to his long 

service and exemplary record Υ άaΦ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ IΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘ Ŝǎǘ ǎecrétaire-trésorier depuis 14 ans et a 

toujours donné satisfaction. La dernière vérification de sa comptabilité Ŧŀƛǘ ǾƻƛǊ ǉǳΩƛƭ ŀ ƭŀ ǘƛŜƴǘ Ŝƴ ǘǊŝǎ 

ōƻƴ Şǘŀǘ Ŝǘ ƛƭ ŀ ǳƴŜ ǇƻƭƛŎŜ ƎŀǊŀƴǘƛŜ ŘŜ ϷрΣлллέ όLe droit, 27 March 1929, p. 5). It was reluctantly, one 

ǎǳǎǇŜŎǘǎΣ ǘƘŀǘ ƛƴ мфопΣ ά[Ŝ ŎƻƴǎŜƛƭ ώƳǳƴƛŎƛǇŀƭ ŘŜ Iǳƭƭ-Sud] a approuvé la retraite de William H. Stewart, 

secrétaire-tréǎƻǊƛŜǊ ŘŜǇǳƛǎ ƭŜǎ ŘŜǊƴƛŜǊǎ ǾƛƴƎǘ ŀƴǎέ όLe droit [Ottawa [2 Octobre 1934, p. 4). 

Beginning work as secretary-treasurer of South Hull just before World War I, and adding to it constantly 

increasing administrative responsibilities for the various Quebec and Ontario horticultural organizations 

of which he was a member, Stewart began to hire a man to work his market garden (and this man, so 

long he was married, received a free house as part of his remuneration). At other times, Stewart sold off 

standing crops of fruits and vegetables, as well as his hay, to the highest bidder.  

In the early 1920s, he began to look for ways to leave farming. In 1920, he offered for sale a άŘŀƛǊȅ ŦŀǊƳΣ 

млл ŀŎǊŜǎ ƎƻƻŘ ƭŀƴŘΣ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎ ƛƴ ƎƻƻŘ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴΣ п ƳƛƭŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ IǳƭƭΤ Ŝŀǎȅ ǘŜǊƳǎέ όOttawa Citizen, 16 

February 1921, p. 11). He offered the dairy farm for sale again in 1921, but he also added a new line to 

the advertisement άƻǊ ǿƛƭƭ ǊŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǇŀǊǘȅ ǿƛǘƘ ǎǘƻŎƪέ όOttawa Citizen, 14 March 1921, p. 11). In 1923, he 
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ƻŦŦŜǊŜŘ άрл ŀŎǊŜǎ ƻŦ ŎƘƻƛŎŜ ƎŀǊŘŜƴ ƭŀƴŘΣ ǿŜƭƭ ōǳƛƭǘ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǘŜǊŜŘέ όOttawa Citizen, 28 May 1923, p. 7). In 

1924, he again offered his 100-acre farm for sale (along with another 65 acres along the Aylmer Road). 

His advertisements ōŜŎŀƳŜ ƳƻǊŜ ŘŜǘŀƛƭŜŘΥ ά/ƘƻƛŎŜ ŘŀƛǊȅ ƻǊ ǘǊǳŎƪ ŦŀǊƳΦ млл ŀŎǊŜǎΣ п ƳƛƭŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ŎƛǘȅΣ мл 

roomed house, sheds, 2 barns and stables, good water supply; 75 acres under cultivation; 15 acres bush; 

good terms. ²ΦIΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΣ !ȅƭƳŜǊ wƻŀŘέ όOttawa Citizen, 6 August 1924, p. 7).  

Understandably, W.H. Stewart became too busy to devote the time necessary for the proper 

maintenance of his farm (and his other farmlands), but it is probably also the case that after the Aylmer 

Road became a public highway in the early 1920s, he recognized the opportunity for other sorts of 

development along the road.  

By 1925, he had decided to develop a country club and so began looking for land closer to Ottawa and as 

close as possible to the projected Champlain Bridge.  

Stewart may have turned his thoughts in the direction of acquiring land for country club development as 

early as 1919. That year, on behalf of South Hull, he had been engaged in important correspondence 

with the Quebec provincial government regarding the desire both locally and provincially to replace the 

Figure 12 The Aylmer toll road and one of its turnpikes circa 1906. The photographer looks east, with St. James Cemetery visible 
on the south side of Aylmer Road (this part of the road being today known as Alexandre-Taché Boulevard). 
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toll road between Ottawa and Aylmer with what is now the Aylmer Road. In conversation with a 

reporter for the Ottawa Citizen, he predicted ǘƘŀǘ ά¢ƘŜ ƴŜǿ !ȅƭƳŜǊ wƻŀŘ ǿƻǳƭŘ Ǌǳƴ ŀƭƻƴƎǎƛŘŜ ǘƘŜ Iǳƭƭ 

9ƭŜŎǘǊƛŎ wŀƛƭǿŀȅ ŀƴŘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƻǇŜƴ ǳǇ ŀ ƭƻǘ ƻŦ ŘŜǎƛǊŀōƭŜ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ƭŀƴŘέ όOttawa Citizen, December 1919, p. 

12). 

When William Henry Stewart died on 9 August 1965 (coincidentally, the day that the Glenlea club 

championship was decided that year), he left to his children an estate valued at about $350,000, the 

majority of this value represented by Glenlea Enterprises, Limited (Ottawa Citizen, 26 October 1965, p. 

14). Nine years later, the National Capital Commission ς ά/ƻƴŎŜǊƴŜŘ about urban growth in the Lucerne 

areaΣέ ŀƴŘ άŜŀƎŜǊ ǘƻ ǇǊŜǎŜǊǾŜ ǊŜŎǊŜŀǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǎǇŀŎŜ ǘƘŜǊŜέ ς purchased the golf course from his son 

William Lynwood Stewart άŦƻǊ ŀ ǇǊƛŎŜ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ Ϸм ŀƴŘ ϷмΦо Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴέ όOttawa Citizen, 8 October 1974, p. 

3). 
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The Highlea Clubhouse 

Hubert Routliffe began his work life as a labourer on Ƙƛǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩ farm (alongside his younger brother 

George). By the time of IǳōŜǊǘΩǎ marriage in 1902, however, he had become a carpenter. Twenty years 

later, in the summer of 1922, farming was far from his mind: he was one of three men who incorporated 

as the Aylmer Construction Company, Limited. Within four years, he had become well known for his 

construction of several άédifices Řŀƴǎ ƭŜ ŘƛǎǘǊƛŎǘ ŘŜ Iǳƭƭέ (Le droit, 22 May 1926, p. 4).  

And so, it appears that part of 

the deal that Routliffe struck 

with StewartΩǎ ǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜ 

regarding the purchase of his 

farm was that he would be 

hired as the general contractor 

for the construction of the 

Highlea clubhouse (see the 

advertisement to the left). 

Indeed, this grand edifice 

became one of his claims to 

fame, for we read in Le droit 

just nine months after its 

completion, when Routliffe died άaprès une courte maladie,έ that it was he άǉǳƛ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳƛǎƛǘ ƭŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ 

¢Ŝƴƴƛǎ /ƭǳōέ (Le droit, 22 May 1926, p. 4). 

The clubhouse seems to have been built on the site of the old Routliffe farmhouse itself. On the one 

hand, Le droitΩǎ ƻōƛǘǳŀǊȅ ƴƻǘƛŎŜ ŀōƻǳǘ Hubert Routliffe says that άil était nŞ ǎǳǊ ƭŜ /ƘŜƳƛƴ ŘΩ!ȅƭƳŜǊ Χ Ł 

ƭΩŜƴŘǊƻƛǘ ƳşƳŜ ƻǴ ŜȄƛǎǘŜ ŀǳƧƻǳǊŘΩƘǳƛ ƭŜ /ƭǳō ώIƛƎƘƭŜŀϐϦ όLe droit, 22 May 1926, p. 4). On the other hand, 

topographical maps of this area from the 1920s show that the Highlea clubhouse was located exactly 

where the Routliffe farmhouse had been located. 

The clubhouse was completed in a matter of months. It opened officially at the beginning of September 

of 1925, but events had been held in it during the last half of August. 

Figure 13 Ottawa Journal, 25 August 1925, p. 30. 
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It was a large building, designed to look impressive from the roadway, and designed to be usable in 

different ways in the summer and in the winter. And in those days (when the lands of Philemon WrightΩs 

old Britannia Farm were still largely void of trees), the view east and west from its verandahs (or 

άƎŀƭƭŜǊƛŜǎέύ was splendid: 

Highlea Tennis and Country Club is ideally situated on a slope on the north side of the Aylmer 
Road, overlooking the links of the Royal Ottawa and Chaudière Golf clubs, with the Ottawa 
River in the foreground. 

Spacious galleries run the entire front and side of the clubhouse proper, which is 114 feet in 
length and 40 feet deep. The main building is two storeys high, the main floor being divided 
into entrance halls, lounge rooms, dance and dining hall, the latter 30 feet by 80. This, with the 
galleries, which are 15 feet by 160, will afford ample space for the accommodation of large 
parties, the galleries being so arranged that they may be enclosed and used as an extra dining 
hall in the winter. The second storey is divided into room sufficiently large for the 
accommodation of private parties. Shower baths and locker rooms are arranged in the 
basement. 

The material used in the construction of this substantial and attractive building is mostly 
concrete, brick, and stucco. 

The front lawns are terraced, with tennis courts so arranged that a good view of the 
tournaments may be enjoyed by patrons while seated in comfort on the galleries. (Ottawa 
Journal, 15 August 1925, p. 21) 

In the spring of 1927, an attempt was made to make the clubhouse furnishings on the inside as 

impressive as its appearance on the outside: 

The club has only recently been lavishly furnished and beautifully redecorated at an enormous 
cost.  

Figure 14 Ottawa Citizen, 5 September 1925, p. 14. The verandahs or galleries are open to the air in this 
photograph. 



 

27 
 

The verandah is furnished with yellow wicker settees, tables, fern stands with potted ferns, and 
wicker bird cages, and rugs, all lending a pleasing sight to the eye and is most comfortable. 

The spacious ball room, which is considered to have the best dance floor in the district, is very 
beautifully decorated with deep blue arches lying on a buff background, and the curtains on the 
windows, which are of the best silk manufactured, blend nicely with the Japanese draperies. 

The private parlors are furnished of the best, one being furnished with a cozy Chesterfield set in 
front of a fireplace, with mahogany tables and deep carpets, the other parlor being furnished in 
a buff shade with a cream wicker Chesterfield and thick rugs. (Ottawa Journal, 30 April 1927, p. 
13) 

The photograph below from the late 1920s shows a man and a woman engaged in a game of tennis 

doubles on one of the two courts laid out immediately in front of the clubhouse (note that the sliding 

window-doors of the galleries or verandahs have been closed). 

  

Figure 15 Highlea Tennis and Country Club, late 1920s. Where the woman and man play tennis above is today the parking lot of 
the Champlain Golf Course. 
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Highlea Golf 1925-26 

What would become the Champlain Golf Course first appeared as a glint in the eye of certain members 

of the Highlea Tennis and Country Club from virtually the moment of its incorporation on 4 August 1925.  

!ƳƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŜƛƎƘǘ ƳŜƴ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƴƎ ŀǎ ά¢ƘŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ¢Ŝƴƴƛǎ ŀƴŘ 

/ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳōέ ǿŀǎ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ CƻƭŜȅΣ a future president of the Glenlea 

Golf and Country Club. He would have been among the foremost of 

those who made sure that golf was included among the goals 

ŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ ŎƭǳōΩǎ charter: άǘƻ ǇǊƻƳƻǘŜΣ ƻǊƎŀƴƛȊŜ ŀƴŘ 

manage a golfΣ ǘŜƴƴƛǎΣ ŎƻǳƴǘǊȅ ŀƴŘ ǎƻŎƛŀƭ Ŏƭǳōέ όGazette Officielle du 

Quebec, 22 August 1925, p. 2543, emphasis added). 

Golf happened to occur first in this list of the Highlea ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘƛƻƴΩǎ 

interests. It became the main interest of the corporation that 

succeeded Highlea: the Glenlea Golf and Country Club, Limited. And 

today, a golf is all that is left. 

Between the spring of 1923 and the spring of 1924, Foley had been 

heavily involved in another chartered country club. Incorporated as 

the Hillcrest Golf and Country Club, a group of young entrepreneurs 

attempted to establish on 180 acres of farmland adjoining the Royal Ottawa Golf Club on its north side a 

27-hole golf facility. As the most significant real estate agent operating along the Aylmer Road in the 

1920s, CƻƭŜȅ ƘŀŘ ǇǊƻōŀōƭȅ ŦŀŎƛƭƛǘŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ IƛƭƭŎǊŜǎǘ ƎǊƻǳǇΩǎ negotiation of a purchase option on the 

Shouldice farmland in question. In 1924, the Stanley Thompson Company designed an eighteen-hole 

championship course and a nine-ƘƻƭŜ ƭŀŘƛŜǎΩ course for the club, and then it was just a matter of 

financing the whole project by selling 1,000 shares at $100 per share. Insufficient shares having been 

sold by the end of 1923, some of the original members of the Hillcrest Board of Directors were replaced, 

and Foley stepped-up his involvement: he was elected treasurer (Ottawa Journal, 11 April 1924, p. 19).  

But nothing availed, and the scheme collapsed. (For the full story, see my essay άhǘǘŀǿŀΩǎ Iƛllcrest Golf 

and Country Club and Its Stanley Thompson Courses at donaldjchilds.ca.) 

Figure 16 Thomas Foley (1885-1938), 
Ottawa Journal, 11 February 1938, p. 
12. 
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DƛǾŜƴ CƻƭŜȅΩǎ ŎƻƳƳƛǘƳŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ IƛƭƭŎǊŜǎǘ ǇǊƻƧŜŎǘΣ perhaps it should be no surprise to see him involved 

one year later in another country club project, this one also planned for land adjoining the Royal Ottawa 

Golf Club (this time on its west side). 

Born and educated in Aylmer, son of a father from County Wexford, Ireland, who settled in Aylmer in 

the 1840s when it was a settlement called Symmes Landing (comprising just a few houses), Foley 

became an accountant of the Crown Bank of Canada after graduation from the University of Ottawa and 

then served as manager of branches in Ottawa, Winnipeg, and other places in Western Canada before 

returning to Aylmer and entering the real estate and insurance business in 1913.  

Concerning the national Victory Bond campaign during World War I (1914-18)Σ ǿŜ ǊŜŀŘ ǘƘŀǘ άaǊΦ 

Thomas Foley, the well-known real estate man, is in charge of South Hull and Eardley, and is a special 

ŎŀƴǾŀǎǎŜǊ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǘƻǿƴ ƻŦ !ȅƭƳŜǊ ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ŘŜǾƻǘƛƴƎ ǇǊŀŎǘƛŎŀƭƭȅ ŀƭƭ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ǘƛƳŜ ǘƻ ŎƻǾŜǊƛƴƎ ǘƘƛǎ ǘŜǊǊƛǘƻǊȅέ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 31 October 1918, p. 7). He became a member of Aylmer town council in the early 

1920s, ran for mayor of the municipality of South Hull in 1923 (unsuccessfully), and was among the local 

people regularly discussed as a possible Liberal candidate for federal elections.  

bŀƳŜŘ ǇǊŜǎƛŘŜƴǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ hǘǘŀǿŀ wŜŀƭ 9ǎǘŀǘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƛƴ мфнрΣ ƘŜ ƘŀŘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ άƻƴŜ ƻŦ hǘǘŀǿŀΩǎ ƭŜŀŘƛƴƎ ǊŜŀƭ 

ŜǎǘŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ ƛƴǎǳǊŀƴŎŜ ƳŜƴΣέ ǿƛǘƘ άǎƻƳŜ ƭŀǊƎŜ ŘŜŀƭǎ ǘƻ Ƙƛǎ ŎǊŜŘƛǘέ όOttawa Citizen, 11 February 1938, p. 1; 

Ottawa Citizen, 20 February 1926, p 18). He was mainly άLƴǘŜǊŜǎǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǎǳō-ŘƛǾƛǎƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƳŜƴǘέ ƻƴ 

ǘƘŜ vǳŜōŜŎ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ hǘǘŀǿŀ wƛǾŜǊ ǿƘŜǊŜ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ άǿŜƭƭ ƪƴƻǿƴέ όOttawa Journal, 11 February 1938, p. 

12). For instance, CƻƭŜȅ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇŜŘ ǘƘŜ άǎǳƳƳŜǊ Ŏƻƭƻƴȅέ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ ά¢ƘŜ DŀǊŘŜƴǎΣέ ƛƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘŜ ƭƛǾŜŘ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 11 February 1938, p. 1). 

He typically facilitated the sale of farmland to developers: 

Slater farm, on Aylmer Road, near Ottawa Golf Club, has been taken over by a syndicate of 

Ottawa men who will subdivide and offer very large lots to the public at moderate prices in the 

near future. The price paid was in the neighborhood of $125,000. This is one of the largest 

ǎǳōǳǊōŀƴ ŘŜŀƭǎ ŜǾŜǊ Ǉǳǘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ƛƴ hǘǘŀǿŀΦ ¢ƘŜ ŘŜŀƭ ǿŀǎ ƴŜƎƻǘƛŀǘŜŘ ǘƘǊƻǳƎƘ ¢Φ CƻƭŜȅ ΧΦ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 27 May 1921, p. 3) 

It is likely that the ŘŜŀƭ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜ ŀƴŘ IǳōŜǊǘ wƻǳǘƭƛŦŦŜ ǿŀǎ negotiated through Foley. 

CƻƭŜȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴ ŀŘŘƛƴƎ ƎƻƭŦ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǎǇƻǊǘǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ¢Ŝƴƴƛǎ ŀƴŘ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳō emerged 

just a month after the official opening of the club: 
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Highlea Club To Have Golf Course  

A meeting of the directors of Highlea Tennis and Country Club was held at the clubhouse, 
Aylmer Road, when those present were: President, Capt. L.F. Burrows, vice-president, A.V. Gale; 
directors, Thos. Foley, Dr. M.F. Cross, Geo. C. Graham, A. Parker, O.B. Haycock, and the 
secretary-treasurer, W.H. Stewart.  

The directors decided to lease the Highlea Tennis and Country Club property. Mr. W.H. Stewart 
was appointed manager, in addition to his office of secretary-treasurer.  

The club will add golf as well as tennis and bowling to its list of sports. Arrangements are being 
made to lay out a nine-hole golf course on the land adjoining the club house. (Ottawa Citizen, 9 
October 1925, p. 3) 

A similar affirmation of plans for golf was recorded two months later in the final board of directors 

ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊΥ ά[ŀƴŘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǇǊŜǇŀǊŜŘ ŦƻǊ ƭŀȅƛƴƎ ƻǳǘ ƻŦ ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ǘŜƴƴƛǎ ŎƻǳǊǘǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎǇǊƛƴƎΣ ŀƴŘ 

arrangements are being made for a nine-ƘƻƭŜ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜέ όOttawa Citizen, 2 December 1925, p. 10).  

²Ƙŀǘ ǿŜǊŜ ǘƘŜǎŜ άŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘǎέΚ  

As many as twenty additional tennis courts were planned for 1926, so preparations for laying out so 

many new tennis courts would have been extensive. Was preparation for the laying out of a golf course 

also undertaken at this time?  

Had a golf professional already been consulted? Had he perhaps staked out a nine-hole course by the 

end of 1925? 

It turns out that just three new courts (not twenty) were introduced to play in the spring of 1926 

(making a total of five). Perhaps a golf course was laid out on the ground that had been under 

preparation for additional tennis courts.  

For some reason, golf became associated with the Highlea Tennis and Country Club at this time. For 

instance, the Montreal Gazette told readers early in 1926 that the banquet of the Canadian Ski 

!ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ƘŜƭŘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ άIƛƎƘ-[Ŝŀ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳōέ όм aŀǊŎƘ мфнсΣ ǇΦ мтύ. Was this a slip of the pen, 

so to speak (an absent-minded confusion of the Tennis and Country Club with a Golf club), or had the 

Highlea club already staked out a golf course? {ƘŜǊōǊƻƻƪŜΩǎ La tribune did the same thing: άǳƴ ƎǊŀƴŘ 

ōŀƴǉǳŜǘ Ŝǘ Χ ǳƴ ōŀƭ Χ ŜǳǊŜƴǘ ƭƛŜǳ ŀǳ ŎƘŀƭŜǘ Řu Highlea Golf ClubΣ ǎǳǊ ƭŜ ŎƘŜƳƛƴ ŘΩ!ȅƭƳŜǊέ (La tribune 

[Sherbrooke], 2 March 1926, p. 6). 

Note also that when it was announced early in 1929 that a new organization called the Glenlea Golf and 

Country Club had replaced the old Highlea Tennis and Country Club and that it had made arrangements 
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for the laying out of an eighteen-hole golf course, a newspŀǇŜǊ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ άǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ώǘƘŜ 

ƎǊƻǳƴŘϐ ǿŀǎ ǇƭŀȅŜŘ ƻǾŜǊ ǎƻƳŜ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀƎƻέ όOttawa Journal, 29 March 1929, p. 23).  

Was there a forerunner at Highlea to the Keffer course of 1929?  

If it is true that golf was άǇƭŀȅŜŘ ƻǾŜǊέ the Highlea ground άǎƻƳŜ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀƎƻΣέ although no golf club had 

ever been officially formed at Highlea, one might suspect that Highlea members promoting the 

development of a golf course might have been so eager to get golf going that they played over a 

provisional, crude layout as early as the fall of 1925 or the spring of 1926. 
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Gaudaur Puts His Oar In 

Stewart purchased from Routliffe a sufficient amount of land to accommodate at least twenty-five 

tennis courts, as we can see from the announcement made by άǘƘŜ ŜƴŜǊƎŜǘƛŎ ǎŜŎǊŜǘŀǊȅ-ǘǊŜŀǎǳǊŜǊέ ƛƴ 

August of 1925: άTwo courts are practically complete and will be ready for play towards the end of the 

ǿŜŜƪ ΧΦ .ŜŦƻǊŜ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǎŜŀǎƻƴ, five courts will be in full swing and, before the commencement of 

the 1926 tennis season, Secretary Stewart hopes to have from 20 to 25 courts at membersΩ ŘƛǎǇƻǎŀƭέ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 31 August 1925, p. 10). 

Although the 

five courts in 

question were 

not actually 

ready for the 

beginning of the 

1926 season, 

they were 

completed by 

the end of it.  

They would be 

the only tennis 

courts ever built 

at Highlea or 

Glenlea (they are shown above), but at the November banquet celebrating άǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ȅŜŀǊ ƻŦ ώIƛƎƘƭŜŀΩǎϐ 

ŜȄƛǎǘŜƴŎŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǘŜƴƴƛǎ ǿƻǊƭŘΣέ Stewart informed club members ǘƘŀǘ άŦƛǾŜ ƳƻǊŜ ǿƛƭƭ ōŜ ŀŘŘŜŘ, making 

ǘŜƴ ǊŜŀŘȅ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ƴŜȄǘ ǎŜŀǎƻƴέ in 1927 (Ottawa Journal, 6 November 1926, p. 13).  

Given that in 1925 the club apparently already had land sufficient for laying out at least twenty-five 

tennis courts (land that was already being prepared late in the fall of 1925 for laying out these courts), 

Stewart curiously also announced ǘƘŀǘ άŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ƭŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ǊŜŎŜƴǘƭȅ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜŘ ǎƻ ǘƘŀǘ ƳƻǊŜ ŎƻǳǊǘǎ Ŏŀƴ 

ōŜ ŀŘŘŜŘ ǿƘŜƴ ƴŜŎŜǎǎŀǊȅέ όOttawa Journal, 6 November 1926, p. 13).  

²ŀǎ άŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ƭŀƴŘέ ǊŜŀƭƭȅ ƴŜŜŘŜŘ ŦƻǊ future tennis courts?  

Figure 17 The five tennis courts of the Glenlea Golf and Country Club as shown on a 1933 aerial 
photograph. Today, the golf course parking lot occupies the place formerly occupied by courts 1, 2, 4, and 
5 (the area where court 3 was located is today grass-covered). The two entrances from Aylmer Road 
remain the same.  
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Or was Stewart anticipating the development of a golf course? 

Stewart had announced his acquisition of additional land for future development by Highlea on 

November 5th. On November 29th, however, it was announced that the Highlea club had been sold: 

άAnnouncement was made last night of the sale of the Highlea Tennis and Country Club to a Montreal 

syndicate ΧΦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ aƻƴǘǊŜŀƭ ƘŀǾŜ ǇŀƛŘ, it is understood, $68,000 for the Highlea Club assets. 

¢ƘŜȅ ŀǎǎǳƳŜ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ƻƴ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ мέ όOttawa Citizen, 30 November 1926, p. 10). 

It turns out that just before the sale of the Highlea club, Stewart appears to have sold to the Montreal 

syndicate the ten acres of land that his own syndicate had originally purchased from RoutliffeΥ άThe new 

owners have decided to install 21 new courts on the land in front of the clubhouse. This property was 

ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜŘ ƭŀǎǘ ǿŜŜƪ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŀǘ ǇǳǊǇƻǎŜέ όOttawa Citizen, 30 November 1926, p. 10). And the Montrealers 

also had άŀƴ ƻǇǘƛƻƴ ƻƴ мнр ŀŎǊŜǎ ƻŦ ƭŀƴŘ ŦƻǊ ŀ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜέ ς pǊŜǎǳƳŀōƭȅ ǘƘŜ άŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴŀƭ ƭŀƴŘέ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘ 

had purchased several weeks before in anticipation of the aƻƴǘǊŜŀƭ ǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴ developing a 

golf course (Ottawa Citizen, 30 November 1926, p. 10). 

The new Montreal owners made a bit of a splash in 

Ottawa when they informed the newspapers that the 

man who led their syndicate was Charles Gaudaur:  

Montrealers Purchase Highlea Country Club 

Charles Gaudaur, Former Sculling Star, Heads Quebec 
Syndicate 

Announcement was made last night of the sale of the 
Highlea Tennis and Country Club to a Montreal syndicate 
headed by Charles Gaudaur, former widely known sculler, 
and brother of Jake Gaudaur, who held the world sculling 
championship some years ago. (Ottawa Citizen, 30 
November 1926, p. 10) 

From the late 1880s to the early 1900s, Gaudaur had 

enjoyed tremendous national and international fame as 

one of /ŀƴŀŘŀΩǎ preeminent rowers when the sport was a hugely popular spectator sport. As the 

Ottawa Journal explained, άLƴ ǘƘŜ ŜŀǊƭȅ ŜƛƎƘǘƛŜǎΣ /ƘŀǊƭŜǎ DŀǳŘŀǳǊ ǿŀǎ ǊŀǘŜŘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŦŀǎǘŜǎǘ ǎƘƻǊǘ distance 

oarsman who ever rowed over a course. It was claimed that he could overhaul his brother, Jake, the 

champion at that time, on a mile courseΦ !ǘ ŀƴȅ ǊŀǘŜΣ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ŀƴ ƻŀǊǎƳŀƴ ƻŦ ƻǳǘǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅέ όOttawa 

Journal, 30 November 1926, p. 18). 

Figure 18 Charles Gaudaur (1863-1927), Galveston 
Daily News, 2 November 1895, p. 9. 
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Born in 1863 in Atherley, Ontario, 

Charles Gaudaur was the 1902 

North American singles sculling 

champion at the one-mile 

distance. He often raced doubles 

with his more famous and more 

accomplished older brother, Jake, 

the world champion at singles 

sculling from 1896 to 1900.  

Charles also developed a successful career as a professional wrestler. And in the early 1900s, he became 

a hotel proprietor in Barrie, Ontario, ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ±ƛŎǘƻǊƛŀ IƻǘŜƭ όмфлнύΣ ǿƘŜǊŜ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ άŀ ƎŜƴƛŀƭ ŀƴŘ ǳǇ-to-date 

Ƙƻǎǘέ όNorthern Advance, 20 November 1902, p. 3). For several years before and during World War I, he 

served as the game warden or overseer in Atherly for Lake Couchiching and part of Lake Simcoe. He was 

then appointed a bridge keeper. In the mid-1920s, he was a taxidermist. 

How he came to lead a syndicate of Montreal businessmen interested in developing a country club in 

South Hull is a mystery. 

It is interesting to note, however, that ά²ƛƭŦǊŜŘ WΦ DǊŀŎŜ 

ƘŀƴŘƭŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴέ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ DŀǳŘŀǳǊ ŀƴŘ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΣ ŦƻǊ 

Grace had led the failed attempt to establish the Hillcrest 

Golf and Country Club thee years before (Ottawa Journal, 30 

November 1926, p. 18).  

Grace (an Ottawa lawyer, alderman, and capitalist 

entrepreneur who had been born in Kazabazua, Quebec, in 

1887) seems to have been interested not in golf, per se, but 

rather in the possibility of making a profit from country club 

stock. ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ όά.ƛƭƭέύ DƭŀŘƛǎƘΣ ǿƘƻ (as sports editor of the 

Ottawa Journal) had published many items promoting the 

Hillcrest venture, and who was added to the Hillcrest board 

of directors in the spring of 1924, perhaps signalled his sense 

of what motivated the year-long whirlwind of promoting the 

Figure 19 Charles Gaudaur racing singles scull circa 1900. 

Figure 20 Wilfrid J. Grace (1887-1964), Osgoode 
Hall, circa 1914. 
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Hillcrest Golf and Country Club when (just after the venture collapsed in May of 1924) he published the 

following item: 

With so many golf clubs being organized there has sprung up a class of professional promoters of 

golf clubs who lease or option the land; sell the stock; see to the appointment of committees; 

build the clubhouse and golf courses and then step out to start another club. They organize joint 

stock companies to own the club and sell stock. There is a commission to the promoter for the 

sale of stock. 

With the incessant broadening out of golf, shares of stock in the various clubs have been in keen 

demand and market values of the shares have enhanced considerably. During the past few years 

most golf club shares have been good investments. (Telegraph-Journal [St. John, New 

Brunswick], re-published in the Ottawa Journal, 28 May 1924, p. 5) 

I wonder if Gaudaur and his syndicate of Montreal businessmen had been seduced by one of DǊŀŎŜΩǎ 

get-rich-quick golf schemes. 

In any case, Gaudaur had installed himself at Highlea by December of 1926, άƳŀƴŀƎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ Ŏƭǳō in the 

ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ aƻƴǘǊŜŀƭ ǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜέ όOttawa Citizen, 23 March 1927). The club continued to host 

dinners and dances in DecemberΣ ŎǳƭƳƛƴŀǘƛƴƎ ƛƴ ŀ ǎǇŜŎƛŀƭ bŜǿ ¸ŜŀǊΩǎ 9ǾŜ άŘŀƴŎŜΣ ŎƻƴŎƭǳŘƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ 

ōǊŜŀƪŦŀǎǘ ŀǘ ƘŀƭŦ Ǉŀǎǘ ŦƻǳǊέ όWindsor Star, 22 December 1926, p. 17).  And throughout the winter, it 

hosted άŎƻƴǘƛƴǳƻǳǎ ŘŀƴŎƛƴƎ ƴƛƎƘǘƭȅ ŦǊƻƳ т ǘƛƭƭ нέ ŀƴŘ ƛǘ ǊŜƎǳƭŀǊƭȅ hosted clubs engaging in winter sports, 

ŀŘǾŜǊǘƛǎƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎ άƴƻ ǇƭŀŎŜ ǿƘŜǊŜ ȅƻǳ Ŏŀƴ ŜƴƧƻȅ ŀ ƳƻǊŜ ǇƭŜŀǎŀƴǘ ŜǾŜƴƛƴƎ after a hike, skiing 

ǇŀǊǘȅΣ ƻǊ ǘƻōƻƎƎŀƴƛƴƎέ όOttawa Citizen, 20 January 1927, p. 12; Ottawa Journal, 30 December 1926, p. 

11).  

Throughout it all, Gaudaur seems to have been a very άhands-onέ manager. For instance, when the 

Social and Athletic Club of the Interior Department hosted 200 skiers at Highlea, inviting as the guest of 

ƘƻƴƻǳǊ ǘƘŜ άIƻƴΦ /ƘŀǊƭŜǎ Stewart, aƛƴƛǎǘŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ LƴǘŜǊƛƻǊΣέ the Ottawa Journal ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ άaǳŎƘ ƻŦ 

the credit ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀŦŦŀƛǊ ǿŀǎ ŘǳŜ Χ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǘŜǎȅ ƻŦ aǊΦ /ƘŀǊƭŜǎ DΦ DŀǳŘŀǳǊέ and the Ottawa Citizen 

observed that άaǊΦ /ΦDΦ DŀǳŘŀǳǊ ŀƴŘ Ƙƛǎ ŜŦŦƛŎƛŜƴǘ ǎǘŀŦŦ ŀǊŜ ǘƻ ōŜ ŎƻƴƎǊŀǘǳƭŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ǾŜǊȅ ŀōƭŜ ǿŀȅ 

ǘƘŜȅ ƭƻƻƪŜŘ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƴŜŜŘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƎǳŜǎǘǎέ (Ottawa Journal, 21 February 1927, p. 28; Ottawa Citizen, 22 

February 1927, p. 13).  

Twenty-five years after his proprietorship of the Victoria Hotel in Barrie, Gaudaur was still a άgenial and 

up-to-ŘŀǘŜ ƘƻǎǘΦέ 
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But on 22 March 1927, just 112 days after DŀǳŘŀǳǊΩǎ Montreal syndicate had purchased the club, the 

Ottawa Citizen ŀƴƴƻǳƴŎŜŘ ά²ΦIΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘ /ƻƴǘǊƻƭǎ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ¢ ϧ / /ƭǳōέΥ ά¢ƘŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ¢Ŝƴƴƛǎ ŀƴŘ Country 

Club, which up to the present has been operating under the control of a group of Montreal 

ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎƳŜƴΣ ǿŀǎ ȅŜǎǘŜǊŘŀȅ ǘŀƪŜƴ ƻǾŜǊ ōȅ aǊΦ ²ΦIΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΧΦ ¢ƘŜ ǇǳǊŎƘŀǎŜ ǇǊƛŎŜ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴŜŘέ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 23 March 1927).  

And the very same day, DŀǳŘŀǳǊ άƭŜŦǘ ŦƻǊ !ǘƘŜǊƭȅΣ hƴǘΦΣ Χ ǘƻ ŀŎŎŜǇǘ ŀ ƎƻǾŜǊƴƳŜƴǘ ŀǇǇƻƛƴǘƳŜƴǘέ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 23 March 1927). He was going home to serve as a bridge and canal manager for what 

would turn out to be the last year of his life. 

Was the purchase of Highlea by the Montreal syndicate DŀǳŘŀǳǊΩǎ ƛƴƛǘƛŀǘƛǾŜ ς his baby, so to speak ς 

from the beginning? Was DŀǳŘŀǳǊΩǎ decision to return home to Atherly the end of the project as far as 

the other members of the Montreal syndicate were concerned?  

Or was it other members of the Montreal syndicate who decided to abandon the Highlea project, 

leading Gaudaur to seek a government appointment back home in Atherly as his bolt hole? 

Whatever ǘƘŜ ŎŀǎŜ Ƴŀȅ ōŜΣ ǘƘŜ ōǊƛŜŦ άƛƴǘŜǊ-ǊŜƎƴǳƳέ ƻŦ /ƘŀǊƭŜǎ DŀǳŘŀǳǊ ǎŜŜƳǎ ǘƻ ƘŀǾŜ ǇǊƻŘǳŎŜŘ ǘǿƻ 

things: first, absolute control of the Highlea club and related property by W.H. Stewart and, second, 

considerable momentum toward the development of a golf course. 



 

37 
 

Highlea Golf 1927-28 

In November of 1926, DŀǳŘŀǳǊΩǎ aƻƴǘǊŜŀƭ ǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜ ƘŀŘ ŀŘƻǇǘŜŘ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ƻǿƴ Ǉƭŀƴǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǘŜƴƴƛǎ 

ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ IƛƎƘƭŜŀΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴǎΥ ƛǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōǳƛƭŘ ǘƘŜ ŀǇǇǊƻȄƛƳŀǘŜƭȅ ǘǿŜƴǘȅ ƴŜǿ ǘŜƴƴƛǎ ŎƻǳǊǘǎ ǘƘŀǘ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘ 

had said he would build. The new owners seem to have been even more ambitious about developing 

IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ŀǎ ŀ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƭǳōΦ bƻǘ ƻƴƭȅ ƘŀŘ ǘƘŜȅ ǎŜŎǳǊŜŘ άŀƴ ƻǇǘƛƻƴ ƻƴ мнр ŀŎǊŜǎ ƻŦ ƭŀƴŘ ŦƻǊ ŀ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜέΤ ōǳǘ 

ǘƘŜȅ ŀƴƴƻǳƴŎŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜȅ ŜȄǇŜŎǘŜŘ ǘƻ ŀŘŘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜƛǊ ǘŜƴƴƛǎ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎƘƛǇ ŀǎ Ƴŀƴȅ ŀǎ άрлл ƎƻƭŦ ǇƭŀȅŜǊǎ 

before next summŜǊέ όOttawa Journal, 30 November 1926, p. 18). Such membership numbers would 

rank alongside those of Royal Ottawa, Rivermead, and Ottawa Hunt. 

When Stewart resumed control of Highlea, he immediately made two things clear ς first, that he 

ǊŜƎŀǊŘŜŘ ŦƛǾŜ ŎƻǳǊǘǎ ŀǎ ǎǳŦŦƛŎƛŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ǘŜƴƴƛǎ ŎƭǳōΩǎ ƴŜŜŘǎ (so long as they were upgraded and 

maintained properly) and, second, that development of a golf club would be a priority: 

It is the desire of Mr. Stewart that the club be made a social and athletic club in every sense of 
the word, and every consideration is being given towards attaining this object. 

! ǾŜǊȅ ŀƳōƛǘƛƻǳǎ ǇǊƻƎǊŀƳ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǇƭŀƴƴŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘƛǎ ǎǳƳƳŜǊΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ  

It has been decided that two at least of the five courts will be resurfaced with a material similar 
ǘƻ ŀǎǇƘŀƭǘΣ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ά!ƳŜǎƛǘŜΦέ ¢ƘŜǎŜ ƘŀǊŘ ŎƻǳǊǘǎΣ ŀƭǘƘƻǳƎƘ ƛƴ ǳǎŜ ƛƴ ƻǘƘŜǊ cities in Canada, will 
be an innovation in Ottawa, and it is anticipated that the tennis members at Highlea will 
appreciate this added attraction. These courts will allow play within an hour of a rain storm, a 
great advantage, which tennis enthusiasts in this district will appreciate. The remainder of the 
courts will be placed in first class condition at the earliest possible date and maintained by a 
competent groundsman throughout the season. 

Mr. Eddie Jamieson, the secretary of Ottawa District Lawn Tennis Association, will be chairman 
of the tennis committee. 

Mr. E.M. Ramsay, of the Department of [the] Interior, is heading a separate syndicate to 
promote a golf course and is making arrangements with Mr. Stewart for use of the Highlea 
clubhouse. (Ottawa Citizen, 23 March 1927, p. 11) 

Golf seems to have been an important ǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άŀƳōƛǘƛƻǳǎ ǇǊƻƎǊŀƳ Χ planned fƻǊ ǘƘƛǎ ǎǳƳƳŜǊΩǎ 

activitiesΦέ After all, plans for introducing golf at Highlea were sufficiently advanced by March of 1927 

ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻƳƻǘŜǊǎ ƻŦ ŀ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ǿŜǊŜ ŀƭǊŜŀŘȅ άƳŀƪƛƴƎ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘǎ ǿƛǘƘ aǊΦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘ ŦƻǊ ǳǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ŎƭǳōƘƻǳǎŜΦέ  

Was ǘƘŜ άǎŜǇŀǊŀǘŜ ǎȅƴŘƛŎŀǘŜέ formed at Highlea by March of 1927 άǘƻ ǇǊƻƳƻǘŜ ŀ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜέ 

associated with an earlier preliminary layout ς ǘƘŜ άǇŀǊǘ ƻŦ ώǘƘŜ ƎǊƻǳƴŘϐ Χ ǇƭŀȅŜŘ ƻǾŜǊ ǎƻƳŜ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀƎƻέ 

(Ottawa Journal, 29 March 1929, p. 23)?  
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{ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ƛƴ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƛƴƎ ŀ ƎƻƭŦ Ŏƭǳō ŀǘ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ǿŀǎ indicated not just by what was quoted in the 

newspapers in March of 1927; it was also indicated by what was pictured in the newspapers in April of 

1927, for ǘƘŜ ŎƭǳōΩǎ Ŧǳƭƭ-ǇŀƎŜ ŀŘǾŜǊǘƛǎŜƳŜƴǘǎ ǊŜƳƻǾŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊŘ άǘŜƴƴƛǎέ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳōΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ 

and, in claiming that ǘƘŜ άIƛƎƘƭŜŀ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳōέ άhŦŦŜǊǎ LŘŜŀƭ CŀŎƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ŦƻǊ ¢Ŝƴƴƛǎ ŀƴŘ wŜŎǊŜŀǘƛƻƴΣέ they 

showed just one other form of άrecreationέ that the club had in mind: golf (see below). 

People certainly continued to associate the Highlea club with golf.  

In the spring of 1927, a man who had been in a car crash explained to reporters that it happened after 

άƛǘ ǿŀǎ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘŜŘ ǿŜ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ŘǊƛǾŜ ƻǳǘ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ Golf and TŜƴƴƛǎ /ƭǳō ŦƻǊ Ψŀ ǿŜŜ ŘƻŎƘ ŀƴŘ ŘƻǊƛǎΩέ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 15 April 1927, p. 3). Le droit mentioned in June of 1928 that Quebec and Ontario 

ǇŀǊǘƛŎƛǇŀƴǘǎ ƛƴ ŀ ŎƻƴǾŜƴǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƭŀōƻǳǊ ƻŦ ƻǊƎŀƴƛȊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ hǘǘŀǿŀ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘƻƭŘ άǳƴ ōŀƴǉǳŜǘ ŎƻƴƧƻƛƴǘ ǇƻǳǊ 

ƭŜǎ ŘŜǳȄ ƻǊƎŀƴƛȊŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǳ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳōέ όLe droit, 26 June 1928, p. 10). In July of 1928, the Ottawa 

Citizen mentioned that ά! ǾŜǊȅ ƘŀǇǇȅ ƛƴŎƛŘŜƴǘ ǘƻƻƪ ǇƭŀŎŜ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ Golf Cƭǳōέ when friends and 

neighbours hosted a dinner for one of their number who was getting married. In December, the same 

newspaper reported ǘƘŀǘ άDǳŜǎǘǎ ŘŀƴŎŜŘ ŀƴŘ ƳŀŘŜ ƳŜǊǊȅ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ DƻƭŦ ŀƴŘ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳō ƭŀǎǘ 

night ǿƘƛƭŜ ǘƘŜ ǇƭŀŎŜ ǿŀǎ ōŜƛƴƎ ōǊƻƪŜƴ ƛƴǘƻέ όOttawa Citizen, 6 December 1928, p. 3). 

Mind you, the club was called the Highlea Tennis and Country Club or the Highlea Tennis Club ten times 

for every time it was ŎŀƭƭŜŘ ŀ άƎƻƭŦέ club, but one wonders whether it might have become associated 

with golf in the minds of some people because they had driven by the club and seen people playing golf 

on its grounds.   

9ǾŜƴ ŀŦǘŜǊ IƛƎƘƭŜŀΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ǿŀǎ ŎƘŀƴƎŜŘ ǘƻ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ōŜƎƛƴƴƛƴƎ ƻŦ мфнфΣ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ Ŏƭǳō ǿŀǎ ǎǘƛƭƭ 

referred to in the Ottawa newspapers as the Highlea Golf and Country Club as late as the spring of 1931 

(Ottawa Citizen, 16 April 1931, p. 7) 

 

Figure 21 Ottawa Journal, 30 September 1927, p. 13. 
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Endsley Moore Ramsay 

As we know, when W.H. Stewart assumed control of the Highlea Tennis and Country Club at the 

beginning of 1927, he made it clear that the club would focus on both tennis and golf, and he appointed 

a different person to look after each sport: 

Stewart Contrôle Le Club Highlea 

M. W.H. Stewart a obtenu le contrôƭŜ Řǳ IƛƎƘƭŜŀ ¢Ŝƴƴƛǎ /ƭǳō Ŝǘ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳō ǉǳƛ ƧǳǎǉǳΩà ces 
jours-ci appartenait à un syndicat montréalais.  

M. Eddie Jamieson, secrétaire ŘŜ ƭΩ!ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ ŘŜ ǘŜƴƴƛǎ Řǳ ŘƛǎǘǊƛŎǘΣ ǎŜǊŀ président du comité de 
ǘŜƴƴƛǎΣ Ŝǘ aΦ 9ΦaΦ wŀƳǎŀȅ ǎΩƻŎŎǳǇŜǊŀ Řǳ ƎƻƭŦΦ (Le droit, 23 March 1927, p. 2) 

Interestingly, readers learned on the same day nŜǿǎ ƻŦ {ǘŜǿŀǊǘΩǎ ǊŜ-acquisition of Highlea broke that 

άE.M. Ramsay, of the Department of [the] Interior, is heading a separate syndicate to promote a golf 

course and is making arrangements with Mr. Stewart for use of the Highlea clubhouseέ (Ottawa Citizen, 

23 March 1927, p. 11). Somehow, Ramsay was ready to negotiate with Stewart about ƎƻƭŦŜǊǎΩ use of the 

clubhouse even before the newspaper announced that Stewart had resumed control of Highlea.  

Ramsay is first mentioned in connection with Highlea concerning the banquet held at the club by the 

Social and Athletic Club of the Interior Department in February of 1927: άaǳŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎǊŜŘƛǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀŦŦŀƛǊ 

was due to the untiring efforts of the committee, Mr. E. [M]. Ramsay, director of skiing Χ, and also to 

ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǘŜǎȅ ƻŦ aǊΦ /ƘŀǊƭŜǎ DΦ DŀǳŘŀǳǊέ (Ottawa Journal, 21 February 1927, p. 8). Given that Ramsay ς 

άŀƴ ŜƴǘƘǳǎƛŀǎǘƛŎ ǎǇƻǊǘǎƳŀƴ ŀƴŘ ƎƻƭŦŜǊέ ς will have worked with Gaudaur early in February in connection 

ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ǇƭŀƴƴƛƴƎ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ ŜǾŜƴǘΣ L ǿƻƴŘŜǊ ƛŦ ƘŜ ŦŜƭƭ ǘƻ ǘŀƭƪƛƴƎ ǿƛǘƘ DŀǳŘŀǳǊ ŀōƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǘǘŜǊΩǎ Ǉƭŀƴǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 

development of a golf course at Highlea (Ottawa Journal, 30 November 1955, p. 2). Ramsay may have 

been deputized by Gaudaur to ǿƻǊƪ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƭǳōΩǎ ƎƻƭŦ Ǉƭŀƴǎ before Stewart re-acquired the club. 

Or, just as Edward G. Jamieson was the chairman of the Highlea tennis committee from before Gaudaur 

took over, during the period Gaudaur was in charge, and after Stewart resumed control, so Ramsay may 

also have been in the position of promoting a golf course at Highlea even before DŀǳŘŀǳǊΩǎ period at 

Highlea. That is, he may already have been working with Stewart himself regarding the building of a golf 

course before Gaudaur acquired the club.  

Stewart was a lifelong resident of South Hull, but his golf committee chairman was an Arnprior boy, born 

and bred. Living and working in Ottawa his entire adult life, Ramsay still regularly returned to the 

Arnprior area to visit friends and relatives, to attend weddings, and so on. He remained active as a lodge 
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member of the Odd Fellows of Arnprior all his life. When he died in 1955 at sixty-four years of age, his 

remains were buried in the Arnprior cemetery. 

A graduate of McGill University and then Yale University, Ramsay came to 

hold two jobs in Ottawa. On the one hand, he worked for the Ministry of 

the Interior. On the other hand, he was president of Ramsay Company, an 

organization of patent lawyers. 

As a golfer, Ramsay was a member of the Chaudière Golf Club from 1924 

to 1925 and a member of the Ottawa Hunt and Golf Club from 1925-28, 

where he won its Fraser Cup in 1927 (playing off a handicap of 18). The 

Chaudière club was founded to make golf more accessible to golfers with 

a modest income; Ottawa Hunt was as exclusive as Royal Ottawa and 

Rivermead.  

Lǘ ǿŀǎ ǇŜǊƘŀǇǎ wŀƳǎŀȅΩǎ ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ǘƻ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŀ ƴŜǿǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ in 

1929 when the founding of the Glenlea Golf and Country Club was 

announced: ά! ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ Ƙŀǎ ŦƻǊ ǎƻƳŜ ǘƛƳŜ Ǉŀǎǘ ōŜŜƴ ǿƻǊƪƛƴƎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ 

details of establishing a long felt want in the nature of a first class golf 

Ŏƭǳō Ŝŀǎƛƭȅ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŜŀƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘƻǎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ƳƻŘŜǊŀǘŜ ƛƴŎƻƳŜǎέ όOttawa Journal, 16 February 1929, p. 4).  

Ramsay remained a member of the club as it transitioned from its Highlea days to its Glenlea days. In 

мфнфΣ ŦƻǊ ƛƴǎǘŀƴŎŜΣ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ IŀƭƭƻǿŜΩŜƴ ŘŀƴŎŜ ƘƻǎǘŜŘ ōȅ ŀ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿƛǾŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƭǳōΩǎ 

ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΣ wŀƳǎŀȅ ǿŀǎ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǾŜ ǇŜƻǇƭŜ ŎƻƳǇƻǎƛƴƎ άǘƘŜ ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ ƛƴ ŎƘŀǊƎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘǎέ 

(Ottawa Citizen, 1 November 1929, p. 14). And almost twenty years later, he was still a prominent 

member of the club in 1948: ά.ƻōōȅ !ƭǎǘƻƴΣ ǇǊƻ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳōΣ ǊŜǇƻǊǘǎ ǘƘŀǘ 9ΦaΦ wŀƳǎŀȅ Ƙƛǘ ŀ 

deer with Ƙƛǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ǎƘƻǘ ǿƘƛƭŜ ǇƭŀȅƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƘƻƭŜ ȅŜǎǘŜǊŘŀȅέ όOttawa Citizen, 19 June 1948, p. 12). 

Deer still present themselves as targets on the same hole today. 

Figure 22 Endsley Moore Ramsay 
(1893-1955), Ottawa Journal, 30 
November 1955, p. 2. 
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Other Golf Courses Laid Out in the Ottawa Area in the 1920s 

Owner William Stewart was determined to have a first-class golf club άǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŦŜŜǎ ǾŜǊȅ ƳǳŎƘ ōŜƭƻǿ 

the usual for a club of this calibre,έ and so, as we know, άŦƻǊ ǎƻƳŜ ǘƛƳŜ Ǉŀǎǘέ ƘŜ ƘŀŘ άŀ committee Χ 

working on the details of establishing a long felt want in the nature of a first-class golf club easily within 

ǘƘŜ ƳŜŀƴǎ ƻŦ ǘƘƻǎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ƳƻŘŜǊŀǘŜ ƛƴŎƻƳŜǎέ όOttawa Journal, 16 February 1929, p. 4).  

This άƭƻƴƎ ŦŜƭǘ ǿŀƴǘέ ƘŀŘ developed for two main reasons: on the one hand, golf was increasing in 

popularityΤ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƻǘƘŜǊ ƘŀƴŘΣ hǘǘŀǿŀΩǎ Ŝstablished golf clubs were increasing in exclusivity. The Royal 

Ottawa Golf Club (established in 1891 and located on Aylmer Road since 1903), the Rivermead Golf Club 

(established in 1910 and located between Lucerne Boulevard and Aylmer Road), and the Ottawa Hunt 

and Golf Club (established in 1919 and located on the opposite side of Ottawa) were flourishing, but 

each had long waiting lists.  

By 1929, several golf clubs were competing in the Ottawa area to offer people more affordable golf. On 

Aylmer Road, the /ƘŀǳŘƛŝǊŜΩǎ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ όǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ /ƘŀǘŜŀǳ Cartier) was laid out in 1923 and the Hull 

Golf Club όǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ Gatineau Golf and Country Club) opened a nine-hole golf course in 1926. As we know, 

on farmland adjoining Royal Ottawa to the north, the Stanley Thompson Company laid out two courses 

for the Hillcrest Golf and Country Club in 1923, but they were never built as the club vanished before a 

shot was played. In the planned community of Gatineau Mills, a company town built by the Canadian 

International Paper Company, the latter began to develop what would become known as the Tecumseh 

golf course in 1928. On the Ontario side of the Ottawa River, a nine-hole course was opened to the 

public on a dairy farm in the Nepean village of City View in 1924, and in 1926, nine holes of the McKellar 

Park golf course were built. But the first golf course laid out after the Ottawa Hunt and Golf Club was 

formed in 1919 was in Hull on Rue Gamelin (once called Brigham Road, and then called Mountain Road), 

ǿƘŜǊŜ ŀ άŎŀŘŘƛŜΩǎ ŎƻǳǊǎŜέ ǘƘŀǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ the home of the Fairmont Golf Club was built in 1922.  

 

Fairmont Golf Club 

Established in 1923, the Fairmont Golf Club (the name was often spelled άCŀƛǊƳƻǳƴǘέύ ƘŀŘ taken over 

what was called a άŎŀŘŘƛŜΩǎ ŎƻǳǊǎŜέ built on Rue Gamelin just north of Fairy Lake (today more usually 

called Lac des Fées). It had been laid out by working-class golfers who had learned the game as caddies 

at the hǘǘŀǿŀ ŀǊŜŀΩǎ ŜȄŎƭǳǎƛǾŜ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƭǳōǎΦ [ƛƪŜ ǘƘŜ hǘǘŀǿŀ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳōΩǎ /ƘŜƭǎŜŀ [ƛƴƪǎ όƛƴ ǳǎŜ ŦǊƻƳ 
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1896 to 1904), the Fairmont course was beyond the last electric railway station and so golfers had to 

walk to the club. The course was said to be άǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘŜƴ ƳƛƴǳǘŜǎΩ ǿŀƭƪ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ŜƴŘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ²ǊƛƎƘǘǾƛƭƭŜ 

electric car lines and ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ ŀƳƛŘ ƛŘŜŀƭ ŀƴŘ ƭƻǾŜƭȅ ǎǳǊǊƻǳƴŘƛƴƎǎέ όOttawa Citizen, 23 April 1925, p. 2).  

These  ideal and lovely surroundings consisted of a semicircle of hilly land at the north end of Fairy Lake. 

The American Annual Golf Guide of 1926 presents information supplied by Fairmont that indicates that 

the club was established in 1922, but the first news of it appears in the Ottawa Journal in July of 1923 in 

a column όάIŜŀǊŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ DǊŜŜƴέύ about local golf newsΥ άCŀƛǊƳƻǳƴǘ ƛǎ ŀ ŎŀŘŘƛŜΩǎ ƴƛƴŜ-hole course 

ǎƻƳŜǿƘŜǊŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǾƛŎƛƴƛǘȅ ƻŦ CŀƛǊȅ [ŀƪŜέ όOttawa Journal, 12 July 1923, p. 13). An accomplished local 

golfer was quoted as saying ƘŜ άǿŀǎ ǾŜǊȅ ƛƳǇǊŜǎǎŜŘ ōȅ ǘƘŜ ǇƻǎǎƛōƛƭƛǘƛŜǎ ƻŦ [the] new course at Fairy Lake 

ΧΦ IŜ ƎŀǾŜ ŀ ǾƛǾƛŘ ǇƛŎǘǳǊŜ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ ǎŎŜƴƛŎ ōŜŀǳǘƛŜǎέ όмн Wǳƭȅ мфноΣ ǇΦ моύΦ   

In the 1920s, caddies were not just young children; many were young men in their late teens and 

twenties whose main job was caddying. A group of them seems to have developed a course of their own 

Figure 23 The fields at the north end of Fairy Lake during the winter of 1920. A golf course would be laid out here two years 
later. 
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in the hilly fields above Fairy Lake that had long been used for outdoor activities: this place had for a 

number of years been used in the winter and spring by the Cliffside Ski Club for cross-country skiing and 

ski-jumping, and it had come to be used in the summer and fall by Boy-Scouts and Sea-Scouts for hiking, 

camping, and various scout games. 

In Britain, rough-and-ready relatively short golf courses crudely shaped by caddies for their own practice 

and enjoyment were called άŎŀŘŘƛŜǎΩ ŎƻǳǊǎŜǎέ (see Saturday Review, 27 February 1909, p. 271). The 

author of the Ottawa JournalΩǎ άHeard on the GǊŜŜƴέ column seems to have adopted this usage. 

!ƳƻƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŎŀŘŘƛŜǎ ǿƘƻ ǇƭŀȅŜŘ ǘƘŜ CŀƛǊƳƻƴǘ ŎŀŘŘƛŜǎΩ ŎƻǳǊǎŜΣ ƻƴŜ ǎǘƻƻŘ ƻǳǘΥ ǘǿŜƴǘȅ-eight-year-old 

Harry Steele. He represented Fairmont in the Ottawa and District Golf Championship at the Royal 

Figure 24 View from the top of the Cliffside Ski Club's Fairy Hill Ski Jump, 1924. 
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hǘǘŀǿŀ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳō ƛƴ Wǳƭȅ ƻŦ мфноΥ ά¢ƘŜ ƻƴƭȅ CŀƛǊƳƻǳƴǘ ŜƴǘǊȅΣ [Φ ώǎƛŎϐ {ǘŜŜƭŜΣ ŘƛŘ ǾŜǊȅ ǿŜƭƭέ όOttawa 

Journal, 12 July 1923, p. 13). So, we know that the course had been named Fairmont by the summer of 

1923. And by the end of the year, what began as a ŎŀŘŘƛŜΩǎ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ƘŀŘ ōŜŎƻƳŜ the location of a full-

fledged golf club. Comprising a larger and non-caddie membership, the Fairmont golf Club applied for 

admission to the Royal Canadian Golf Association in the fall of 1923. And so, in January of 1924, the 

annual rŜǇƻǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ w/D! ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ άƻƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ŏƭǳōǎ ƧƻƛƴƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴέ ƛǎ άǘƘŜ CŀƛǊƳƻǳƴǘ 

DƻƭŦ /ƭǳōΣ Iǳƭƭέ όThe Globe [Toronto], 23 January 1924, p. 9).  

/ƻƴǎƛǎǘŜƴǘ ǿƛǘƘ ƛǘǎ ƻǊƛƎƛƴǎ ŀǎ ŀ άŎŀŘŘƛŜǎΩ ŎƻǳǊǎŜΣέ ǘƘŜ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ CŀƛǊƳƻƴǘ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳō ǿŀǎ 

described by The American Annual Golf Guide (1926) as short ς άŀ ǎǇƻǊǘƛƴƎ ƻƴŜ ƻŦ нΣулл ȅŀǊŘǎέ ς and 

the Ottawa Citizen seems to confirm that the new Fairmont Golf Club took over an existing golf course 

ǿƘŜƴ ƛǘ ƻōǎŜǊǾŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ά!ƴ ŀǘǘǊŀŎǘƛǾŜ ƴƛƴŜ-ƘƻƭŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǎŜŎǳǊŜŘ ŀǘ CŀƛǊȅ [ŀƪŜέ όOttawa Citizen, 

23 April 1925, p. 2). The routing of its nine holes in the mid-1930s is shown below. 

Harry Steele, born in 1895 in Wright, Quebec (not far from where the Fairmont golf course would be laid 

out twenty-seven years later), ǿŀǎ ƘƛǊŜŘ ŀǎ CŀƛǊƳƻƴǘΩǎ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƎƻƭŦ ǇǊƻŦŜǎǎƛƻƴŀƭ ŀƴŘ ǎŜǊǾŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŀǘ ǊƻƭŜ off 

and on till at least the end of the 1920s (Harry Mulligan displaced him for two seasons from 1927-28).  

Figure 25 The routing of the nine holes of the Fairmont golf course indicated on a 1938 aerial photograph. The greens show up 
as light-coloured square patches of grass. 
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He was said to have been άŀ Ƴŀƴ ƻŦ ŎƻƴǎƛŘŜǊŀōƭŜ ƎƻƭŦƛƴƎ ŀōƛƭƛǘȅέ όOttawa Citizen, 10 May 1943, p. 16). 

But he became a wandering man of all trades at several local golf courses after his stints at Fairmont: he 

ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŜŘ ǘƘŜ DŀǘƛƴŜŀǳ DƻƭŦ ŀƴŘ /ƻǳƴǘǊȅ /ƭǳō ƛƴ ƛǘǎ άCƛŜƭŘ 5ŀȅέ ǘƻǳǊƴŀƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ мфплΤ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ 

DŀǘƛƴŜŀǳ ŎƭǳōΩǎ ŎŀŘŘƛŜ ƳŀǎǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ƴŜȄǘ ȅŜŀǊΤ ƛƴ мфпо ƘŜ ǎŜǊǾŜŘ ŀǘ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ǎƛƳǳƭǘŀƴŜƻǳǎƭȅ ŀǎ IŀǊǊȅ 

aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴΩǎ ŀǎǎƛǎǘŀƴǘ ǇǊƻ ŀƴŘ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ŎƭǳōΩǎ head greenkeeper.  

His Fairmont Golf Club was certainly well-established by July of 1924, and he was succeeding in raising 

the calibre of golf played on the course, for the Ottawa Citizen ǊŜǇƻǊǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ōƛƎƎŜǎǘ άǎǳǊǇǊƛǎŜέ ƻŦ 

ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǊƻǳƴŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ά/ƛǘȅ ŀƴŘ 5ƛǎǘǊƛŎǘ DƻƭŦ ŎƘŀƳǇƛƻƴǎƘƛǇ ǘƻǳǊƴŜȅέ ƻŦ мфнп ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƎƻƻŘ ǎŎƻǊŜ ōȅ άYƛǊƪŜ 

[ǳŘƛƴƎǘƻƴΣ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƴŜǿ CŀƛǊƳƻƴǘ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳōέ όф Wǳƭȅ мфнпΣ ǇΦ мύΦ  

It was not a club with a big membership, mind you. The Ottawa Citizen says that in 1925 the Fairmont 

DƻƭŦ /ƭǳō ƻǇŜƴŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ ȅŜŀǊ άǿƛǘƘ ŀ ƭƛƳƛǘŜŘ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎƘƛǇ ƻŦ ŦƛŦǘȅ ƳŜƴ ŀƴŘ ǘǿŜƴǘȅ-ŦƛǾŜ ǿƻƳŜƴέ όно !ǇǊƛƭ 

1925, p. 2). But membership was increasing. Just a month later, Canadian Golfer described it as άŀ 

ǇǊƻƎǊŜǎǎƛǾŜ Ŏƭǳō ǿƛǘƘ мнр ƳŜƳōŜǊǎέ όǾƻƭ н ƴƻ м ώaŀȅ мфнрϐΣ ǇΦ млуύΦ  

Cƭǳōǎ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ hǘǘŀǿŀ ŀǊŜŀ ŘǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ мфнлǎ ǿŜǊŜ ŦƻƴŘ ƻŦ ŎŀƭƭƛƴƎ ǘƘŜƳǎŜƭǾŜǎ άǇǊƻƎǊŜǎǎƛǾŜ,έ a 

word used to indicate to potential members that they were άprogressiveέ in a democratic sense: they 

offered ŀƴ ŀŦŦƻǊŘŀōƭŜ ŀƴŘ ŀŎŎŜǎǎƛōƭŜ ŀƭǘŜǊƴŀǘƛǾŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀΩǎ ŜȄŎƭǳǎƛǾŜ ǇǊƛǾŀǘŜ ŎƭǳōǎΦ 

The Fairmont Golf and Country Club lapsed as a member-oriented golf 

organization in the early 1930s (after the defection of most of its 

members to the new Glenlea Golf and Country Club in 1929). The golf 

course endured, however, and was renovated and redesigned several 

times over the next thirty years, but it was always offered to the public 

as a pay-for-play golf course. It never again had a golf club organized by 

members. 

The Fairmont Golf and Country Club endured with the same name ς 

offering pay-as-you play golf, country-club activities (including sled-dog 

races), and nightclub acts ς until the early 1950s, when the Federal 

5ƛǎǘǊƛŎǘ /ƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴ όŦƻǊŜǊǳƴƴŜǊ ƻŦ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ bŀǘƛƻnal Capital Commission) 

targeted the property for expropriation in connection with development 

of a parkway for accessing the new Gatineau Park. 

 

Figure 26 Ottawa Citizen, 10 June 
1939, p. 22. 
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Chaudière Golf and Country Club 

In 1923, Sir Robert Borden, former 

Prime Minister of Canada, fronted a 

group (organized by Ambrose Eugene 

Corrigan) that intended to build an 

eighteen-hole golf course on the old 

Eddy Farm located between the Aylmer 

Road and the north bank of the Ottawa 

River.  

Incorporated as the Chaudière Golf and 

Realty Company, most of the founding 

members of the company were golf 

nuts, such as Borden himself (seen in 

the photo to the left), as well as 

Corrigan (former club champion at 

Rivermead), and William Foran (a 

founder of Rivermead). 

The Chaudière Golf Club first opened for 

play in the summer of 1923, although it 

did not begin its first full season of 

operation until 1924, when Harry 

Mulligan was hired as its first golf professional.  

The ŎƭǳōΩǎ ŦƻǳƴŘŜǊǎ were eager to start play as soon as possible. AŦǘŜǊ άǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ǿŀǎ ƭŀƛŘ ƻǳǘ ōȅ 

DŜƻǊƎŜ /ǳƳƳƛƴƎΣ ƻŦ ¢ƻǊƻƴǘƻΣ Χ ǿƻǊƪ ǿŀǎ ŎƻƳƳŜƴŎŜŘ ŀōƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ мst WǳƴŜΣ мфноΣέ ŀƴŘ Ǉƭŀȅ ŎƻƳƳŜƴŎŜŘ 

on seven holes with temporary greens on Saturday, June 30th (Ottawa Journal, 19 June 1924, p. 1; see 

also Ottawa Citizen, 27 June 1923, p. 3). And more holes were opened for play within a week: ά¢ǿŜƭǾŜ 

ǘŜƳǇƻǊŀǊȅ ƘƻƭŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƴƻǿ ƛƴ Ǉƭŀȅέ όOttawa Journal, 7 July 1923, p. 23). 

The club was still two weeks away from the official opening of the golf course, but nothing would stand 

ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǿŀȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƘŀǳŘƛŝǊŜΩǎ ǉǳŜǎǘ ǘƻ ƻǇŜƴ ŀǎ ǉǳƛŎƪƭȅ ŀǎ ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜ ς not even the absence of necessary 

greenkeeping equipment: 

Figure 27 Sir Robert Borden, circa 1923-24. 
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One experience which the Chaudière Golf Club has been forced to face gives something of an 
idea of the tremendous growth of the game through Canada and the United States. 

In the upkeep of the greens, one of the most necessary implements is the hole-cutter, a 
machine which is standardized throughout the golf world.  

To eliminate the margin of error in the cutting of the cups and to keep the edges clean and 
trim, this implement is an essential to the greenkeeper, yet none one could be found on the 
continent. 

So great has been the demand in Canada and the United States for the paraphernalia 
necessary to golf courses that the entire supply has been exhausted and none could be 
obtained save from England. (Ottawa Citizen, 17 August 1923, p. 11) 

Opening day was 21 July 1923 (see the photograph of the opening drive below). 

The cost of a share in the Chaudière Golf and Realty Company was $100. Significantly, however, one did 

not need to buy a share to play golf. Furthermore, at the Chaudière, it was announcedΣ ά¢ƘŜǊŜ ƛǎ ƴƻ 

initiation fee. The annual fee for 1923 will be $30; but members, if they so desire, may pay a monthly 

fee of $10 for the balance of the playing season. This will entitle them to playing privileges and the use 

ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ŏƭǳō ƘƻǳǎŜέ όOttawa Citizen, 27 June 1923, p. 3). 

The Chaudière Golf and Realty Company promised a progressive golf club animated by egalitarian 

democratic principles and policies. Officers of the new club articulated these principles and policies at a 

meeting of the board of directors in July of 1923: 

Figure 28 Chaudière Golf Club, 1st tee, 21 July 1923. 
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At a meeting of the shareholders of the new company held this week for organization purposes, 

Sir Robert Borden was elected president. He stated that he was associating himself with the 

enterprise with the sole idea that it was going to give a number of Ottawa people an opportunity 

to play golf who had hitherto been barred from membership in existing clubs owing to expense 

and other causes. By charging a nominal monthly fee for playing privileges and eliminating 

initiation charges, the new club, he thought, would provide some of the advantages usually 

obtained from municipal courses. 

aǊΦ ²ƛƭƭƛŀƳ CƻǊŀƴΣ ǿƘƻ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ άŦŀǘƘŜǊέ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ wƛǾŜǊƳŜŀŘ DƻƭŦ /ƭǳōΣ ǿŀǎ ŜƭŜŎǘŜŘ ǎŜŎǊŜǘŀǊȅΣ aǊΦ 

!Φ9Φ /ƻǊǊƛƎŀƴΣ ƳŀƴŀƎŜǊ ΧΦ 

aǊΦ CƻǊŀƴ ǎŀƛŘ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ǘƘŜ ŀƛƳ ƻŦ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǘƻ Ŏǳǘ ƻǳǘ ŀƭƭ ǳƴƴŜŎŜǎǎŀǊȅ άŦǊƛƭƭǎέ ƛƴ 

order that the playing fees might be kept low and within the range of everybody. Clubs and other 

supplies would be available for players at practically cost price and there would be sets of clubs 

for rental by those who do not own them. 

Mr. Corrigan predicted that the Chaudière Golf Club would soon develop some of the best golfers 

in Ottawa because it had been revealed that there were a number of gentlemen who resided in 

the city now who had played golf in Scotland and England but who had been compelled to 

abandon the game since coming to Canada. These now would be able to get on the links. 

(Ottawa Journal, 7 July 1923, p. 23) 

One such golfer as Corrigan described was William Allison Divine from North Berwick, who had served as 

the golf professional at the Ottawa Golf Club from 1899 to 1903 when it was located at its Chelsea Road 

Links (1896-1904). When the club opened at its present location in the spring of 1904, Divine was 

replaced by John Oke (winner later that year of the first Canadian Open Golf Championship) and Divine 

then gave up the game to become a baker on Wellington Street in Ottawa. But twenty years later he 

joined the new Chaudière club and became the first member to record a hole-in-one on its new golf 

course (Ottawa Journal, 27 July 1953, p. 26). 

Harry Mulligan, the first head pro at the Chaudière (appointed 1 January 1924), recalled that Corrigan 

acted on the democratic principles enunciated by the first directors. In an interview thirty years later, 

when he was the head pro at the Glenlea Golf Club, Mulligan recalled Corrigan fondly: 

Working with A.E. Corrigan, Harry helped to get the first pay-as-you-play course [Chaudière] on 

its feet.  
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άLǘ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƎǊŜŀǘŜǎǘ ǘƘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŀǇǇŜƴŜŘ ǘƻ ƎƻƭŦ ƛƴ hǘǘŀǿŀΣέ ǘƘŜ ŘƛƳƛƴǳǘƛǾŜ DƭŜƴƭŜŀ ǇǊƻ ǎǘŀǘŜŘΦ 

άLǘ ƎŀǾŜ ȅƻǳƴƎ ƎƻƭŦŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƛǘȅΣ ǘƘƻǎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ƴƻǘ ǘƻƻ ƳǳŎƘ ƳƻƴŜȅΣ ŀ ŎƘŀƴŎŜ ǘƻ Ǉƭŀȅ ǘƘŜ ƎŀƳŜΧΦ 

The thing I liked about Mr. Corrigan was the fact that whether they had money or not, they could 

ǎǘƛƭƭ Ǉƭŀȅ ŀ ǊƻǳƴŘ ƻǊ ǘǿƻΣέ aǳƭƭƛƎŀƴ ǊŜŎŀƭƭŜŘΦ όOttawa Citizen, 3 May 1955, p. 19) 

In the Ottawa Journal in 1929, a similar observation was made anonymously by a member of one of the 

ƻƭŘŜǊΣ ƳƻǊŜ ŜȄŎƭǳǎƛǾŜ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƭǳōǎΥ ά!Φ9Φ /ƻǊǊƛƎŀƴ ƳŀŘŜ ƎƻƭŦ ǇƻǇǳƭŀǊ ƛƴ hǘǘŀǿŀ ǿƘŜƴ ƘŜ ōǳƛƭǘ ǘƘŜ 

/ƘŀǳŘƛŝǊŜ ŀƴŘ ōǊƻǳƎƘǘ ǘƘŜ ƎŀƳŜ ǿƛǘƘƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǊŜŀŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ƴŀƴ ƻŦ ŀǾŜǊŀƎŜ ƳŜŀƴǎέ όOttawa Journal, 27 

May 1929, p. 19). 

 

Hillcrest Golf and Country Club 

In the spring of 1924, Bill Gladish, the sports editor of the Ottawa Journal, reflected on the development 

of golf in the Ottawa area since World War I: 

Golf is gradually crowding every other summer game out of the picture. The strides the game has 

made in Ottawa since the war have been immense.  

Three new courses [Ottawa Hunt, Chaudière, and Hillcrest] have been added to the two which 

were in existence previous to the war [Royal Ottawa and Rivermead].  

The baby club, the Chaudière, is just about ready to step out of its long perambulator and make 

way for the recently christened Hillcrest Club, which is also located on the popular side of the 

Ottawa River. (Ottawa Journal, 8 April 1924, p. 16) 

What GƭŀŘƛǎƘ Ŏŀƭƭǎ ǘƘŜ άHillcrest Clubέ ǿŀǎ ƛƴŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜŘ in June of 1923 as the Hillcrest Golf and Country 

Club. Since its letters patent were issued a few days before those of the Chaudière Golf and Country 

Club, Hillcrest ǿŀǎ ŀŎǘǳŀƭƭȅ ŎƘǊƛǎǘŜƴŜŘ ƴƻǘ ŀǎ hǘǘŀǿŀΩǎ ŦƛŦǘƘ ƎƻƭŦ ŎƭǳōΣ ōǳǘ ǊŀǘƘŜǊ ŀǎ ƛǘǎ ŦƻǳǊǘƘΦ 

It was born in the spring of 1923, when five young people new to golf (two barristers, a bookkeeper, a 

ǎǘŜƴƻƎǊŀǇƘŜǊΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ƘŜŀŘ ƻŦ hǘǘŀǿŀΩǎ Řƻǿƴǘƻǿƴ ƻŦŦƛŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ŀƴŀŘƛŀƴ tŀŎƛŦƛŎ wŀƛƭǿŀȅύ ŘŜŎƛŘŜŘ ǘƻ 

incorporate as a golf club and build an eighteen-hole championship golf course and a nine-ƘƻƭŜ άƭŀŘƛŜǎΩ 

ŎƻǳǊǎŜΦέ Ranging from nineteen to thirty-six years of age, these golf neophytes had negotiated an option 

to purchase 180 acres of land adjoining the property of the Royal Ottawa Golf Club along its northern 

boundary.  
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And then they arranged for the Stanley Thompson Company to design their golf courses. 

As shown in the 

map reproduced to 

the left (which was 

published in 

hǘǘŀǿŀΩǎ Ƴŀƛƴ 

newspapers), the 

property was 

situated 400 yards 

north of Aylmer 

Road on the west 

side of Brickyard 

Road (which has 

since been replaced 

ōȅ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ 

Boulevard Saint-

Raymond).  

The club asserted 

ǘƘŀǘ άLǘǎ ŜŀǎŜ ƻŦ 

access ς being only a 10c fare and a 15-minute ride from the center of the city by either the Green Buses 

or the Hull Electric Railway ς Ƙŀǎ ŀ ƎǊŜŀǘ ŀǇǇŜŀƭέ όOttawa Citizen, 30 August 1923, p. 11). An important 

purpose of the publication of the map was to show that the new golf course would be accessible to 

Ottawa residents: it would be within walking distance of the Broadview Station, which served both the 

Hull Electric Railway line and the Canadian Pacific Railway line (all of which are marked on the map).  

Also indicated on the map was the fact that the club would have a prestigious neighbour: the Royal 

Ottawa Golf Club. 

The site where the Stanley Thompson staked out twenty-seven golf holes is today a subdivision known 

as Birch Manor or Manor des Trembles, but in 1923 the property in question comprised a farmhouse, its 

related outbuildings, land largely cleared for grazing, and another portion of land along its western 

boundary that had second-growth trees and brush on it. 

Figure 29 Ottawa Citizen, 4 July 1923, p. 3. 
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The club published an advertisement on 4 July 1923 in the Ottawa Citizen, the Ottawa Journal, and Le 

droit that ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǊŜŀŘŜǊǎ ǘƻ ŀƴ άŀŎŎƻƳǇŀƴȅƛƴƎ ǎƪŜǘŎƘέ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ŘŜǎƛƎƴΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘƛǎ ǎƪŜǘŎƘ ǿŀǎ 

accidentally omitted from all three newspapers (Ottawa Citizen, 4 July 1923, p. 3). Better late than 

never, however, the sketch seen below appeared eight weeks later in a newspaper article about the 

ŎƭǳōΩǎ ƴƛƴŜ-ƘƻƭŜ ƭŀŘƛŜǎΩ ŎƻǳǊǎŜΦ όbƻǘŜ ǘƘŀǘ L ƘŀǾŜ ŎƻƭƻǳǊŜŘ ǘƘŜ ƭŀŘƛŜǎΩ ŎƻǳǊǎŜ ōƭǳŜΣ ǘƘŜ ŦǊƻƴǘ ƴƛƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

championship course green, and the back nine of the championship course yellow, and I have added 

hole numbers otherwise difficult to make out on the original newspaper image.) 

Figure 30 The 180-acre farm to be purchased by the Hillcrest Golf and Country Club. National Air Photo Library, A4572-50, 5 
April 1933, modified and annotated. 












































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































